MEETING OF THE PARLIAMENT

Wednesday 3 March 2004 (Afternoon)

Session 2

© Parliamentary copyright. Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body 2004.

Applications for reproduction should be made in writing to the Licensing Division, Her Majesty's Stationery Office, St Clements House, 2-16 Colegate, Norwich NR3 1BQ Fax 01603 723000, which is administering the copyright on behalf of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body.

Produced and published in Scotland on behalf of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body by The Stationery Office Ltd.

Her Majesty's Stationery Office is independent of and separate from the company now trading as The Stationery Office Ltd, which is responsible for printing and publishing Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body publications.

CONTENTS

Wednesday 3 March 2004

<u>Debates</u>

	Col.
TIME FOR REFLECTION	6167
POINT OF ORDER	
NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE REFORM (SCOTLAND) BILL: STAGE 1	6170
Motion moved—[Malcolm Chisholm].	
Amendment moved—[Shona Robison].	
The Minister for Health and Community Care (Malcolm Chisholm)	
Shona Robison (Dundee East) (SNP)	
Mr David Davidson (North East Scotland) (Con)	
Mike Rumbles (West Aberdeenshire and Kincardine) (LD)	
Dr Jean Turner (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (Ind)	
Kate Maclean (Dundee West) (Lab)	
Rob Gibson (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)	
Eleanor Scott (Highlands and Islands) (Green)	
Mary Scanlon (Highlands and Islands) (Con)	
Mr Keith Raffan (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD)	
Des McNulty (Clydebank and Milngavie) (Lab)	
Ms Sandra White (Glasgow) (SNP)	
Carolyn Leckie (Central Scotland) (SSP)	
Bristow Muldoon (Livingston) (Lab)	
Mr Brian Monteith (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)	
Mr Stewart Maxwell (West of Scotland) (SNP) Mike Rumbles	
Mike Rumbles Mrs Nanette Milne (North East Scotland) (Con)	
Stewart Stevenson (Banff and Buchan) (SNP)	
The Deputy Minister for Health and Community Care (Mr Tom McCabe)	
NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE REFORM (SCOTLAND) BILL: FINANCIAL RESOLUTION.	
Motion moved—[Malcolm Chisholm].	
Shona Robison (Dundee East) (SNP)	6222
Mr David Davidson (North East Scotland) (Con)	
The Minister for Health and Community Care (Malcolm Chisholm)	
Business Motions.	
Motions moved—[Tavish Scott]—and agreed to.	
PARLIAMENTARY BUREAU MOTIONS	6227
Motions moved—[Tavish Scott].	
Dennis Canavan (Falkirk West) (Ind)	6227
The Deputy Minister for Parliamentary Business (Tavish Scott)	
DECISION TIME	
POINT OF ORDER	6238
INSTITUTE FOR SCIENCE EDUCATION IN SCOTLAND	6239
Motion debated—[Lord James Douglas-Hamilton].	
Lord James Douglas-Hamilton (Lothians) (Con)	
Ms Wendy Alexander (Paisley North) (Lab)	
Brian Adam (Aberdeen North) (SNP)	
Robert Brown (Glasgow) (LD)	
Rhona Brankin (Midlothian) (Lab)	
Robin Harper (Lothians) (Green)	
Dr Sylvia Jackson (Stirling) (Lab)	
Nora Radcliffe (Gordon) (LD)	
Mr David Davidson (North East Scotland) (Con)	
Dr Elaine Murray (Dumfries) (Lab)	
Mike Pringle (Edinburgh South) (LD)	
Mr Keith Raffan (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD)	
The Deputy Minister for Education and Young People (Euan Robson)	

Scottish Parliament

Wednesday 3 March 2004

(Afternoon)

[THE PRESIDING OFFICER opened the meeting at 14:30]

Time for Reflection

The Presiding Officer (Mr George Reid): Good afternoon. Our time for reflection leader today is Rodef Shalom Eliyahu McLean, co-ordinator of the Jerusalem Circle.

Rodef Shalom Eliyahu McLean (Jerusalem Circle): Shalom. Salaam. My name is Eliyahu McLean. I am visiting Scotland from the holy land together with a Muslim Sufi sheikh named Abdul Aziz Bukhari. We have come to be part of the first annual festival of middle eastern spirituality and peace in Edinburgh. Though I am Jewish, born of a Jewish mother, I also have roots on my father's side that go back to Scotland, so I am a proud McLean as well.

Sheikh Abdul Aziz and I have come from the city of Jerusalem to show how a religious Jew and a religious Muslim can work together for peace. We help to bring together Jewish, Christian and Muslim religious leaders who seek to bring spiritually based solutions to the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. We hold regular prayer-for-peace gatherings with people of all faiths in the home of Sheikh Bukhari in the Muslim quarter of Jerusalem's old city. We seek to reclaim the indigenous middle eastern peace wisdom.

In Arab culture, there is a ritual called "sulha". Sulha brings warring tribes together for reconciliation. This is related to the Hebrew word "slicha", which means "forgiveness". So, in the spirit of sulha, three years ago we held a Hannukah-Christmas-Ramadan celebration in the Galilee. Last summer, the annual sulha gathering attracted 1,500 people.

We are two deeply wounded peoples who are blessed and destined to share the same land together—the land of the prophets. Although the land is called by different names—Israel and Palestine—we believe that the path of spirituality can serve as a bridge for people on all sides.

People ask us, with all the bad news, how we can work for peace. My rebbe, Shlomo Carlebach, taught me a key principle that I hold on to. It is called "holy hutzpah". We have to have the hutzpah—the audacity—to believe that peace is possible.

Sheikh Bukhari often says that Jerusalem is the heart of the world and that, by healing Jerusalem,

we will heal the world. Jerusalem has several meanings. In Hebrew, "yeru-shalayim" means "you shall see peace". In Arabic, "or-shaleem" means "the light of peace". So we hope to return Jerusalem to its true purpose—to be the peace capital for the whole world.

We invite you, the Scottish people, to join us in this endeavour. Join us in our sacred work—come to visit us in Jerusalem, or send us your prayers, or build bridges of understanding right here in Scotland. Thank you.

Point of Order

14:34

Dennis Canavan (Falkirk West) (Ind): On a point of order, Presiding Officer. Section 31(2) of the Scotland Act 1998 empowers the Presiding Officer to

"decide whether or not in his view the provisions of the Bill would be within the legislative competence of the Parliament".

Rule 9.10 of our standing orders empowers the Presiding Officer to determine any dispute about the admissibility of an amendment to a bill.

This morning, the Environment and Rural Development Committee was considering an amendment of mine to the Nature Conservation (Scotland) Bill. My amendment—amendment 247—sought to extend the scope of the bill to land that is owned by the Queen in her private capacity. The Deputy Minister for Environment and Rural Development persuaded a majority of committee members to vote down my amendment by telling them that it was outwith the Parliament's legislative competence. When I challenged him on that, he referred to paragraph 3(3)(c) of schedule 5 to the Scotland Act 1998, which states that

"the compulsory acquisition of property held or used by a Minister of the Crown or government department"

is a matter that is reserved to Westminster. I submit that the Queen is not a minister of the Crown or a Government department.

Furthermore, paragraph 4 of the schedule states explicitly that paragraph 1 of the schedule does not reserve property that is held by Her Majesty in her private capacity, so it would appear that my amendment was not ultra vires and that the committee was misled by the deputy minister. Therefore, I ask you as Presiding Officer to rule that my amendment is within the Parliament's legislative competence so that we can return to the matter at stage 3.

The Presiding Officer (Mr George Reid): You are, of course, right that legislative competence is a matter for me and I determine that in terms of the bill. In relation to the business that was before the Environment and Rural Development Committee this morning, a view was taken by the convener and that is where the matter rests at this stage. It is perfectly legitimate for you to lodge your amendment again at stage 3 and, at that point, I would make a judgment on its admissibility.

National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill: Stage 1

The Presiding Officer (Mr George Reid): The next item of business is a debate on motion S2M-215, in the name of Malcolm Chisholm, on the general principles of the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill, and on one amendment to that motion.

14:37

The Minister for Health and Community Care (Malcolm Chisholm): The National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill contains the legislative changes that are necessary to realise the vision that is set out in the white paper "Partnership for Care" and in the partnership agreement. It is a vision of a health service with a culture of caring that is to be developed and fostered by a new partnership between patients, staff and Government. It is a vision of a health service fit for the 21st century, in which patients are the key drivers of change and front-line staff are the leaders of the change process.

The Scottish Executive is spending £7.2 billion on health this year and the figure is planned to rise to £8.7 billion by 2005-06. That investment must be matched by patient-centred reforms that deliver improved health and more integrated health services.

The Health Committee took evidence from a wide range of interests and I thank it for its report. I very much welcome its endorsement of the bill's general principles, subject to the reservations that it has expressed.

I will now deal with the bill's provisions. The first of the reforms that I have included in the bill is the final step in the dissolution of national health service trusts. Trusts were set up as a key feature of the internal market and, although they have lost much of their original purpose, they are still a hindrance to the single-system integrated working that we believe is best for Scotland.

Patient-centred services of the highest quality cannot be delivered by a market-style NHS in which trusts compete with one another, but they can be delivered by NHS staff working together as part of the same organisation. That is why we are moving towards single-system working.

Mr Brian Monteith (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): The minister suggests that patient-centred care can be provided only by a centralised system. Does he acknowledge that opticians, which are not centralised and are generally free from direction, provide patient-centred care? **Malcolm Chisholm:** I agree with the second point, but the leap from a single system to centralisation is enormous. I have been trying to tell the Conservative party for months that we support a single system that is decentralised—that is exactly what I will go on to describe.

In removing the powers to establish trusts, we wish to establish single-system working in a decentralised context with the delegation of decision making and responsibility to the point of patient care. That is where community health partnerships are so crucial. Community health partnerships will build on the achievements of the most innovative local health care co-operatives. They will help to make the planning and delivery of health care more responsive to the needs of local populations and to develop more services in community settings. They will also be a key vehicle for integration.

On the one hand, CHPs will act as a focus for the integration of primary and specialist services. That will bring about a shift in the balance of care to enhance local community-based services with improved access for local people. On the other hand, CHPs will be able to progress the joint future agenda locally through substantive partnerships with local authorities. If CHP boundaries are coterminous with local authority administrative boundaries, the potential for further integration becomes greater.

CHP committees will comprise representatives from front-line staff and key partners such as local authorities, the voluntary sector and the public. They will have greater responsibility and influence in the deployment of all resources by health boards and they will play a more influential role in service redesign locally. We will ensure that schemes of establishment are focused on health service and health improvement outcomes. We will also ensure that the health boards prepare robust development plans to support the evaluation of CHPs.

Bruce Crawford (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP): On coterminous boundaries, we must ensure that we get the best fit and the best efficiencies. Will there be a shift in health board boundaries to meet council boundaries or, vice versa, will councils be restructured to meet health board boundaries?

Malcolm Chisholm: We do not have any such proposals at the moment. We want to ensure that, as CHPs are set up, they are coterminous as far as possible with local authority boundaries. It may be that one CHP will have representatives from two NHS boards but not from two local authorities. That is the best approach at present.

It is vital that the CHPs involve their communities when planning and delivering

services, as they cannot provide effective services unless they know what their communities need. Each CHP will be required to support effective community involvement through public partnership forums that will ensure that the CHP engages effectively with its local community. That should build on good existing local approaches and on the work of local user and carer groups. The forums will be involved directly in the decisions that are taken by each CHP on the planning and delivery of services.

Mr John Swinney (North Tayside) (SNP): I agree entirely with what the minister said about the importance of community involvement and locality. However, some of what he said does not sit comfortably with the feelings of many communities in Scotland about the way in which decisions are taken to reconfigure services, especially when the outcome fundamentally reduces access to those services at the local level. How will he ensure that the rhetoric that he uses in Parliament is much more closely reflected in the reality that some of us see on the ground in the communities that we represent?

Malcolm Chisholm: We have seen several excellent examples of good public involvement in the part of Scotland that John Swinney represents. I will visit NHS Tayside on Friday. The public partnership forums that have been set up in that area are a good example of better engagement with local communities.

I will now deal with public involvement more generally. Underpinning the obligations of the CHPs to involve the public will be a statutory duty that requires all health boards and special health boards to involve and consult the public on the planning, development and delivery of health services. It is essential to our vision of a modern health service that patient focus and public involvement are fully integrated with day-to-day management and delivery.

Bill Butler (Glasgow Anniesland) (Lab): Will the minister give way?

Mr Duncan McNeil (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) *rose*—

Malcolm Chisholm: I will give way to Bill Butler and then I think that I will have to get on.

Bill Butler: The minister will be aware of my proposed member's bill, which would provide for direct elections for a majority of places on health boards. Does he recall the words of his colleague the Deputy Minister for Health and Community Care in a debate on the national health service last year? The deputy minister said:

"The Executive will seriously consider the proposal alongside its own radical agenda".—[*Official Report*, 18 June 2003; c 853.]

Have ministers reflected on the proposal? What will the Executive do formally to assist?

Malcolm Chisholm: I will report back to Bill Butler on the issue. Obviously, there would have to be a wide public consultation on his important bill. I will look into the matter in respect of any help that we can give.

The new Scottish health council, which featured quite a bit in the Health Committee's report, will be a major step forward in supporting patient focus and public involvement in the NHS. We wish to see the Scottish health council created as part of NHS Quality Improvement Scotland, which reviews and reports on standards in the NHS independently of the Government. That is because we see achieving a real patient focus as inseparable from improving the quality of our health services, the starting point for improving quality being the experience of every patient who passes through the health care system.

I know that there are concerns about the future structure of public involvement and the independence of the Scottish health council, but I say again that we are committed to creating a Scottish health council that acts independently, brings professionalism and expertise to the patient focus and public involvement agenda and builds on the strong local roots and commitment of the health council movement. Detailed arrangements to secure those objectives are being developed in partnership with the Scottish Association of Health Councils. I shall write to the Health Committee about that before stage 2.

The duty that I have just mentioned requires boards to involve and consult the people to whom they provide services. A key role of the Scottish health council and its local advisory councils will be to ensure that the boards do that job properly. They will therefore be a key driver for the improved public involvement that we all want.

If the public are not receiving services, or are receiving poor-quality services, it is important that Scottish ministers have appropriate powers to intervene to ensure that those services are brought back up to the required standards. That is why I have included a power in the bill that is flexible enough to cope with a wide range of issues, yet can be used only as a last resort by virtue of the necessity test. That legal test will ensure that the new power will be available only where intervention is more than just desirable, useful or expedient.

The Scottish ministers can use many indicators to decide whether an intervention is necessary, including lengthening waiting times, information from the performance assessment framework, clinical standards not being met and persistent complaints from patients. I do not expect that ministers will use the new power often, but in the event of a serious failure, or where a serious failure is likely, patients would expect ministers to be able to step in quickly to ensure that the problems are addressed.

The bill also includes a new duty on boards to co-operate to advance the health of the people of Scotland. If we are to maximise the level of service that we can provide to all communities throughout Scotland, we need NHS boards to work collaboratively with other boards to share skills and resources to provide a better service. To do otherwise is simply not sustainable.

As some health services become more specialised and complex, we need more regional planning to ensure that the services are delivered successfully and to the highest possible level of care. Health board chief executives are working up a proposed regional planning framework that will allow for a co-ordinated approach to regional planning. I shall scrutinise that and ensure that we have much more effective arrangements than we had in the past.

Health improvement also features in the bill, as the NHS should be a service about health, not just about illness. The duty in the bill makes it clear that it is a responsibility of Scottish ministers and health boards to promote health improvement; the bill provides them with powers to enable them to do just that. I recognise that boards alone cannot improve health, so the powers will enable them and Scottish ministers to work with, and give financial assistance to, other organisations, including local authorities, in promoting health improvement.

In "Partnership for Care", we said that none of the reforms will happen without staff. A key role for the Government, as I said in the debate last week on the NHS work force, is to support, value and empower staff to lead the change process in partnership with patients. I have already set out how we propose to empower front-line staff by devolving decision making to them. We also wish to value and support them. That is why we have a staff governance standard, which reflects our fundamental belief that staff should be well informed, appropriately trained, involved in decisions that affect them, treated fairly and consistently, and provided with an improved and safe working environment.

At stage 2, I will lodge an amendment to ensure that systems are in place to make a reality of staff governance. That will be achieved through compliance with the staff governance framework, which has been agreed by a partnership of the Executive, the NHS, trade unions and professional bodies. Section 1 of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 requires Scottish ministers to promote a comprehensive and integrated health service designed to secure improvement in the health of the people of Scotland. It is important that the health service improves the health of all the people of Scotland, irrespective of gender, race, disability, age, sexuality, beliefs and opinions. That is why we will lodge an amendment at stage 2 to require boards to promote equal opportunities when undertaking their functions.

I know that some members have questioned the statement in the financial memorandum that no additional expenditure will be associated with the bill. I remind members that there has been an uplift of 7.8 per cent in the resources provided to boards in 2003-04 to manage and provide services. Moreover, an additional £173 million will be spent on health improvement over the next three years under the "Building a Better Scotland" programme and money has been invested in supporting the delivery of the patient focus and public involvement programme.

Boards have a great deal of capacity to manage change. Some boards have already dissolved trusts and demonstrated savings, for example. The change from LHCCs to CHPs is evolutionary. The move to regional planning will require a redistribution rather than an augmentation of resources. The reforms should result in more efficient use of resources and can be managed in the record sums that are being provided to boards to manage and provide services. I am determined, therefore, that no additional management costs will be associated with the bill.

The bill has been broadly supported by a variety of organisations. It represents an important step towards the vision set out in "Partnership for Care" and the partnership agreement. I hope that members will give their support to the principles of the bill and reject the unnecessary amendment in the name of Shona Robison.

I move,

That the Parliament agrees to the general principles of the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill.

14:51

Shona Robison (Dundee East) (SNP): I begin by thanking those who gave evidence to the Health Committee and the clerks who, as ever, did a great deal of hard work to enable us to get to this stage 1 debate. I welcome the bill's principles, which have been the thrust of SNP policy for some time—it has taken the Executive approximately five years to catch up, but better late than never.

The SNP has been keen for a long time to abolish trusts because we want to remove the artificial barriers that exist between primary and secondary care and that have hindered the delivery of an integrated system across Scotland. It is important to simplify the system for the public, patients and staff. There is too much bureaucracy in the NHS, but we are slowly getting rid of it, which is to be welcomed.

Structural changes alone will not cure the ills of the health service. We need to address more fundamental issues and to build capacity in the NHS to respond to the needs of the Scottish public. That does not mean that the bill is not necessary, however.

Phil Gallie (South of Scotland) (Con): When Shona Robison spoke of a reduction in staff, I presume that she was referring to administrative staff. However, how will the centralisation of the health boards and the division of primary care and acute trusts help to retain staff? Will she estimate how many jobs will be saved?

Shona Robison: I hope that there will be cost savings as a result of the reduction in bureaucracy—I would be concerned if that were not the case. The bill seeks to simplify bureaucracy and to deliver a better service. As the trusts have no role in that regard, their abolition is long overdue.

The bill deals with other important matters, such as regional working. The severe lack of cooperation across Scottish health board boundaries and the lack of regional planning have been highlighted by the debacle in maternity services in Glasgow and the west of Scotland. I know that Stewart Maxwell will have more to say on that in his speech. We have to ensure that such a debacle does not happen again.

Community health partnerships are another important development. Such partnerships have great potential, but we need to know more about the Executive's thinking on how they will operate and what they will do. I do not think that all is clear on that front.

It is fair to say that LHCCs have been something of a mixed bag. Some of them work well; some not so well. The difference is that community health partnerships are to be statutory bodies, unlike the LHCCs, which are voluntary. CHPs must be dynamic organisations that can respond to local needs. I do not believe that that will be a cheap option. The NHS Confederation in Scotland, the body that represents the managers to whom the minister referred, is raising concerns about that. It has stated:

"The creation of new bodies almost inevitably has additional costs attached ... and Ministers should be aware of this."

Where is the money to meet those additional costs to come from if not from the Minister for Health and Community Care? Is it to come from other budgets? If so, from which budgets? We need to know that.

Public involvement is an important element of the bill. As John Swinney highlighted, there has been widespread dissatisfaction about the quality of public involvement in many areas. Many members of the public feel that public consultation is a sham and a game played by those in power to get the result that they wanted in the first place. If we are to change that perception, we need to ensure that the bill's provisions, as well as other measures, bring about change and that health boards consult the public properly on the planning and development of services. Crucially, there must be changes in the way in which health boards take decisions once they have listened to the public. The jury is currently out on that.

The Executive's assertion that public involvement can be entirely achieved without any additional resources is a matter of concern. The financial memorandum states that the public involvement duty will involve "no additional expenditure" by health boards. The NHS Confederation, which represents managers those who know the financial constraints in the health service—stated:

"continuous public involvement is not cheap, as NHS organisations have found through experience".

If the experience of managers is that public consultation is not cheap, either we will end up having public consultation on the cheap, which will not work and will not deliver the change required, or, yet again, other budgets will have to be used to fund adequate public consultation. Either way, the situation is not acceptable.

Mr McNeil: Will the member take an intervention?

Shona Robison: I am a bit tight on time, otherwise, I would do—I am sorry about that.

I have no problems with the new Scottish health council monitoring how well health boards engage with the public-that is all well and good. about However, have concerns the independence of the health council, as it is located within NHS Quality Improvement Scotland, which is an NHS body. There is a strong argument that that does not send out a message to the public that the Scottish health council will be truly independent and able to protect their interests. There are arguments for a different structure to be established so as to guarantee the new council's independence. I would urge the minister, even at this late stage, to reconsider the matter.

There are further concerns about the abolition of the local health councils, which have carried out an important advocacy role in their communities. The local advisory committees, we are told, will not take on that role, although they may have to if no one else can fulfil it. That is extremely confusing—the role should be taken on by one body or the other. Local health councils have fulfilled an important role in directly assisting the public to take up issues with the local health boards. The loss of that important advocacy role is a retrograde step and I urge the minister to reconsider the proposal.

The bill also covers health improvement, which is important, and powers of intervention, which are welcome, although concerns have been raised about them. I agree that the bill must be clear about what "intervention" means and under what circumstances the powers will be used. If the bill is not clear on that point, situations could arise in which there is a lack of clarity about when the powers should be used. The financing of intervention is also a crucial issue. If a financial problem is being investigated and the health board has to pay for the costs of the intervention, is that not a double whammy for our already financially stretched health boards? The minister must consider that issue.

The focus of my amendment is the independence of the Scottish health council and the lack of detail in the financial memorandum. We cannot have a situation where additional responsibilities are put on health boards, which are already strapped for cash-they are trying to meet junior doctors' working hours and are facing additional drugs costs-without funding those new duties fully. The money has to come from somewhere; if it is not coming directly from the minister, it will have to come from other budgets, as NHS managers and other organisations are telling the Executive. The Executive must have another look at the financial memorandum and come back with something a bit more realistic.

I move amendment S2M-215.1, to insert at end:

"but, in so doing, believes that there must be safeguards in place to ensure the independence of the proposed new Scottish Health Council and is concerned about the lack of detail in the Financial Memorandum regarding potential additional costs arising from the Bill."

15:01

Mr David Davidson (North East Scotland) (Con): As a matter of principle, we are opposed fundamentally to the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill, which is designed to centralise even more power in the hands of the minister. Once again, devolution starts and ends with the Executive. At this stage we have no desire to amend the bill, because we oppose it and we do not want an amended version of it to proceed.

Unlike the Labour party's Airborne brigade sitting on my left, we will stick to our manifesto

6180

pledges of 1999 and 2003 to abolish health boards.

Mike Rumbles (West Aberdeenshire and Kincardine) (LD): Will the member take an intervention?

Mr Davidson: I will take an intervention from Mr Rumbles later. He should remind me, in case I forget him.

Health boards are well past their sell-by date, as we have been saying for the past few years. Even health board officials agree that the development of managed clinical networks covering several current health board areas will provide a strategic overview and the networking requirements of the future.

We want localised health care delivery to respond to what the patient needs, not what the Minister for Health and Community Care calls for. We want to see a system that will provide patient choice, in which people will be free to make financial and clinical decisions to suit the community and in which patients will be served through independent, not-for-profit organisations that are better able to respond to local needs. One size does not fit all in Scotland.

Bruce Crawford: Will the member give us a bit more explanation of the not-for-profit trusts? Is he talking about companies limited by guarantee?

Mr Davidson: We are talking about a new form of public service that is simple and has been understood in Westminster—in fact, John Reid has adopted some of our proposals. It is not a case of buying shares and floating a trust on the stock market.

Bruce Crawford: Is the member confirming that he would support the principle of not-for-profit trusts being companies limited by guarantee?

Mr Davidson: Absolutely. I have no problem with that. We do not need any more comfort zones and boards hiding behind the targets set by the minister. We need there to be real incentives for the people who deliver health care to deliver the best possible care to the maximum number of patients on the basis of the best value for money.

Foundation hospitals are accepted in England, and Scottish Labour MPs believe that they are the correct way forward. That view is apparently shared by the Co-operative Party, of which I believe there are members in the chamber. Brian Wilson has been quoted as saying that

"The NHS should always be responsive to local need",

and Nigel Griffiths, an Edinburgh MP, has stated that he would not object to the Edinburgh royal infirmary becoming a foundation hospital. The risk of not adopting foundation trusts in Scotland is that we will lose key staff, not just because of the money but because of the opportunity that such trusts provide of allowing people to concentrate on professional practice rather than ticking boxes for the minister.

I have stated regularly in the chamber that we do not wish to privatise the NHS but to add capacity through better partnerships with the independent sector. John Reid, that wonderful Scottish MP, has gone some way towards that he has not gone far—by setting up 60 or so diagnostic treatment centres throughout England, all delivered by independent companies that are run by foreign doctors and designed to reduce waiting times by increasing throughput with no dilution of standards. Why cannot Scotland receive the same treatment?

We will not support the financial resolution, not only for the same reasons but because of our disbelief in the minister's claims about cost neutrality. The bill is undeliverable without cuts in service, and the minister has just said that the boards have had the money; they will have to pay for the reforms out of what they have got. The only solution to that problem is to cut the costs, the staffing or the throughput. There is no arguing with what the minister said today. However, Audit Scotland is concerned about a lack of transparency if trusts go, and committees of the Parliament are not convinced that the move is correct.

Local health councils are to be merged into a national organisation. Existing health councils agree with that move—they want a national body—but they and I believe fundamentally that the new Scottish health council must not only be independent, but must be seen to be independent. I therefore cannot support its being placed within NHS Quality Improvement Scotland, where management will be confused. Having "NHS" in the title will create the wrong impression, and I do not believe that the minister has addressed the costs of setting up the new organisation.

Community health partnerships are supposed to be coterminous with local councils. Sticking to the principle of a patient-centred system, if that is the case, why can we not merge the social care budget with the primary care budget, combine the staff and do away with dual assessments? That would simplify the system and focus on patient need. I saw such a system in the Falkland Islands just over a week ago.

Bristow Muldoon (Livingston) (Lab): If Mr Davidson had taken the shorter journey to West Lothian, he would be aware that West Lothian Council and a local trust are already deep in negotiations about the pooling of social care and health budgets. **Mr Davidson:** I take it from Mr Muldoon's intervention that that is now official Labour policy, which I welcome.

The management boards of the new CHPs must include representatives of the main primary care professions, but there must also be clear input from communities in the boards and in local management. The communities that the CHPs serve must have a clear voice and must be able to get it across.

Malcolm Chisholm: I assure David Davidson that primary care professionals, including those from his profession of pharmacy, will be represented. I have already spoken about the public partnership forums. The CHPs are an example of power being given to front-line staff and of the involvement of local communities. Of course, CHPs completely disprove the nonsense that Mr Davidson and Brian Monteith have spoken about centralisation under the bill.

Mr Davidson: The minister has not yet provided much detail about how the CHPs will be set up and managed. The evidence that the Health Committee took certainly gave the impression that many professionals are concerned about their opportunity to have an input. Perhaps the minister will come back with more details.

To date, the minister has failed to convince anyone that sufficient funding is in place for the CHPs. He has failed to say how they will be structured and manned and to whom they will be accountable. Will the CHPs be accountable to the minister, to the health boards—if he keeps them or to the communities that they will seek to serve?

Government has a major role in health care: it should fund it and seek ways in which to introduce new funding schemes and capacity. Government also has a role in supporting the educational needs of staff at all levels and it should set standards and ensure that audits are carried out. Given the vast sums that are spent in Scotland, the Government should also begin to seek value for money. Most important, it should ensure patient choice. Our patient passport would give patients the right to access care wherever it can be delivered appropriately and timeously within the NHS. If care is not available, the passport would allow patients to seek it in other sectors while taking some of the NHS tariff with them. Surprisingly, in England under new Labour, if patients go to one of the new independent sector diagnostic treatment centres, they can take the whole fee with them. Why can we not have that system here?

We believe that the issue is not about narrow political ideology, but about real reform that frees up our excellent professionals to respond to patients' needs, wherever they live. This flawed bill will not do that; the detail is thin and its basis is wrong. The bill will merely entrench the inequalities in our health service, which we are determined to eradicate.

15:09

Mike Rumbles (West Aberdeenshire and Kincardine) (LD): The bill sets out to abolish NHS trusts and to ensure that patients' interests are put first and that services are planned efficiently through collaboration with and among NHS bodies. In addition, the bill will establish community health partnerships, develop managed clinical networks and place a duty on ministers and health boards to promote health improvement. Most important, the bill will impose a duty on health boards to encourage public involvement.

As the Health Committee's stage 1 report on the bill makes clear, we are

"satisfied that this Bill should improve health service delivery."

The last sentence of the committee's report is in paragraph 75, which states:

"the Committee recommends that the Parliament approves the general principles of the Bill."

David Davidson, who is the Scottish Conservative party's health spokesperson and a member of the committee, supported that position. The report is a unanimous report by the Health Committee. David Davidson argued in favour of the bill in the committee, but he has just talked about the bill being flawed. He took one position in the committee and has taken an entirely different position in the chamber.

Mr Davidson: The committee took evidence and produced a report that is based on that evidence. We tried to reach a conclusion that was based on the evidence that we took, so that the bill could move forward. I remain opposed in principle to the removal of trusts, although I said clearly that I am happy to see them change into foundation trusts. It is for Mr Rumbles to decide whether what I have said has been reported in a different way and misunderstood. However, in simple terms, there are many things in the bill that I worked as a committee member to try to clarify, but we have not received clarity.

The Presiding Officer: Mr Rumbles will have another couple of minutes.

Mike Rumbles: Thank you, Presiding Officer that was a long intervention.

It is interesting that David Davidson has said twice in two weeks that he has been misreported. We cannot get away from the fact that, as the Scottish Conservative party's representative on the Health Committee, he has supported the bill. As I said, he supported the committee's unanimous recommendation:

"the Committee recommends that the Parliament approves the general principles of the Bill."

The motion that is before members simply states:

"That the Parliament agrees to the general principles of the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill."

That is not exactly greatly different from what we put in the committee's report. For David Davidson come to the chamber and realise that—oops—he has made a mistake is just not on.

Carolyn Leckie (Central Scotland) (SSP): Will the member take an intervention?

Mike Rumbles: No—I have just taken one.

Carolyn Leckie: My intervention is different.

Mike Rumbles: I want to return to the committee's report.

Two areas of concern were highlighted in the evidence to the committee. The first focused on the public perception of the independence of the new Scottish health council and the second focused on the lack of detail in the financial memorandum that accompanies the bill. Indeed, those two issues are highlighted in the SNP's amendment.

I will deal first with the Scottish health council. It is absolutely true that, although the committee was not convinced that the Scottish health council should necessarily be part of NHS Quality Improvement Scotland, the committee did not come to a view as to where the council should lie in the great scheme of things.

I found the Scottish Consumer Council's evidence convincing. It said:

"In objective terms, we have no worry about its independence as part of NHS QIS, but we have significant concerns about how that would be perceived."—[Official Report, Health Committee, 16 December 2003; c 468.]

Therefore, the issue, in effect, relates to perception. I am glad to see that, in the minister's response to the committee's report, he has assured us that the convener, the vice-convener and the director of the Scottish Association of Health Councils are members of the steering group that will set up the new arrangements. I am confident that the issue of the perceived lack of independence in the new arrangements will be successfully tackled.

I turn to the second issue—the lack of detail that was produced by the Executive in the financial memorandum that accompanies the bill. The committee report states:

"The Committee has concerns that it has not been given a breakdown of costs for the creation of the new bodies and therefore cannot make a fully informed comment." That is absolutely true and self-evident. However, that does not mean that we believe that the initiatives in the bill are underfunded. From the evidence that we received, I believe that the opposite may be the case.

Shona Robison: Will the member give way?

Mike Rumbles: The member should listen to the point that I am going to make first.

Dumfries and Galloway NHS Board, one of the smallest of the 15 health boards, has already gone down the road of integration. In its evidence, it said:

"We have made local and recurring savings in excess of £500,000 ... We also took the view that we did not need three chief executives or three directors of finance and so on. We started with a blank sheet of paper and redesigned everything."—[Official Report, Health Committee, 9 December 2003; c 426.]

I commend Dumfries and Galloway NHS Board for its clear evidence to the committee. That evidence was reinforced by written evidence from NHS Borders, which stated that management cost savings have been reinvested in patient care, although it did not give a figure.

Shona Robison: I bring to Mike Rumbles's attention the other paragraph in the committee report that deals with that issue. It says—

Mike Rumbles: Which paragraph?

Shona Robison: It is paragraph62. It says:

"The Committee would not wish to see the initial phase of change compromised in any way due to a lack of funding."

That raises the committee's question about the potential lack of funding for the bill. Given the comments of the NHS Confederation—the managers who know—and its concern about the lack of funding, does not Mike Rumbles recognise that there is a potential shortfall?

Mike Rumbles: I recognise clearly what was stated in paragraph 62 of the committee's report. I have it in front of me and was about to quote from it. On the strength of the evidence that we have received, I am convinced that there are real and substantial savings to be made in this whole process. Although those savings may not be available everywhere, I support the committee's view that additional funding should be made available

"where it has been clearly demonstrated by Health Boards that the obligations imposed by this legislation have resulted in additional expenditure which could only be met by cuts in front line services."

However, I will believe that when I see it, as the evidence does not indicate that that would be the case.

There are significant savings to be made by ending the duplication of the unnecessary

management systems with which the NHS was saddled by previous Conservative Administrations. Unfortunately, I have to return to the Conservative position, which ducks and dives all over the place. Conservative members say that they are supportive of the Health Committee's unanimous position in favour of the bill. However, David Davidson has referred to patient passports, and every time that we hear about patient passports, they are presented as some sort of gift that the Scottish Executive or the Government would be able to give to create freedom of choice for individuals throughout the country. For many of my constituents who live in rural Scotland, there is no choice of hospital; therefore, the idea of patient passports is a non-starter.

In addition, what the Conservatives fail to emphasise about their so-called patient passports is the fact that a patient would have to dip into their savings book for several thousand pounds before their choice would be subsidised by the Scottish Conservatives' plan. That money would have to be available in the first place, as there is no way that the Conservatives could afford it otherwise.

Mr Monteith: I thank the member for giving way, despite the fact that I was constantly heckling him about Airborne. Can he tell me whether all the operations that patients in his constituency require are delivered in his constituency or whether people have to travel outside his constituency to a variety of other hospitals that are chosen by clinicians?

Mike Rumbles: Brian Monteith makes a ridiculous point. In the north-east, there is only the Aberdeen royal infirmary and very few people can go to other hospitals. I do not suppose that the Conservatives are advocating that people should travel hundreds of miles away from their relatives, friends and loved ones to have their operations.

This is a very good bill indeed. It was supported by all members of the Health Committee, including David Davidson. It is a shame that he has suddenly realised that he should backtrack on the issue and is leading the Conservatives to vote against something that he supported as recently as last week.

15:19

Dr Jean Turner (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (Ind): I draw members' attention back to what we are trying to do through the bill. Patients are the most important people in this debate. We are trying to make the patient's journey better through the bill. I have no difficulty with that objective, but I have some difficulty with some of the things that have been mentioned with regard to funding, and I think that the bill will have hidden costs. Not every patient's journey is a comfortable one. Too many people are still on waiting lists or are turned away. I got a letter the other day from a lady who was told that because she was a bit long in the tooth and had a chronic illness, perhaps she did not need to go to the outpatients department, as it was overwhelmed. There are not enough nurses and doctors. Anything that we do to change the health service will have to lead to more patients being treated, and that will require more doctors and nurses.

It is a jolly good idea to get rid of the trusts—not before time, as everyone in medicine would agree. My colleague Bill Butler talked about electing the members of health boards. That would be a good idea because people would have more trust in their board members and would feel that their problems were being taken on board. Board members who were elected would understand people's problems better.

The NHS should also be more user-friendly in the area of patients' complaints. Too many people find that, although their complaints are dealt with, it is as if the point has been missed. We have to make sure that when patients complain, they have an independent voice.

Health boards have to co-operate; that is also long overdue. Many boards probably do not realise how much cross-boundary flow there is. Every board should be paying for work on their patients that is done in other board areas. Some areas are short of cash because they do not get paid for such work.

Powers of intervention in cases of service failure have been mentioned—Glasgow is probably getting pretty close to needing them. For the sake of argument, if we think about the problem of trolley waits, which has been going on for approximately two years, we are not really thinking about the patients but about the management structure that cannot cope because it does not have the capacity. How on earth are we going to improve such situations?

If the bill can improve the patient's journey, I am for it—we should all work towards improving that. There have been far too many changes in the NHS, which makes it hard to keep morale up. There has been change after change, and this new change is the greatest that there has been since the inception of the health service. I would like all of us in the chamber to work together for the good of the patient.

A gentleman in my constituency has been incontinent for more than a year. It is appalling for the trust to tell me—it did not tell him—that it does not undertake the highly specialised surgery required; it is expecting his consultant to report back to say whether the procedure is clinically effective. I am for anything that will improve communication between consultants, patients and—if they would get their act together—health boards. If the bill helps us to do something better for the patient, I am 100 per cent behind it and will vote for it.

I would love the minister and his deputy to reassure me that patients will be listened to. Public involvement is extremely important. I am an MSP because people truly do not feel as if they have been involved. They have attended expensive meetings for so-called consultation, but at the end of the day, all they want is their bread-and-butter services, such as medicine, general surgery and help when they have their heart attacks, to be near to where they live. They do not want to know that the working time directive means that there are not enough doctors to provide a service near to where they live.

There is nothing wrong with specialisation and centralisation for specialised services, such as neurosurgery or maternity and paediatrics in cases such as the Queen Mother's hospital and Yorkhill children's hospital. Those are specialist units in the same way as a cardiothoracic unit is a specialist unit.

People should be able to get their heart attacks, hernias or hip replacements dealt with. There are people in my constituency who are paying to have their hip replacements done in the private sector, but they should not have to use their hard-earned savings to pay for that. The private sector does not train nurses or doctors; it steals them from the NHS.

I would like the NHS to be improved. If the bill helps to do that and if the minister and his deputy can assure me that they will find the money to provide the doctors, nurses and all the other paramedical services to make the NHS work, I am 100 per cent behind them.

We must remember that we are here not just to talk about the NHS but to ensure that patients are seen when they are sick and when they are at their most vulnerable. Quite often, patients are afraid to complain about inefficient services because they fear that they will receive an unfavourable response.

At the moment, I am for the bill.

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Trish Godman): I call Kate Maclean. [Interruption.]

I call Kate Maclean.

15:26

Kate Maclean (Dundee West) (Lab): In our debates on the NHS, it is always reassuring when the Tories oppose what we are doing. It is hardly

surprising that the Tories do not like the bill because it puts patients first, it respects the role of staff in the planning and delivery of services and it abolishes the last bastions of the internal market that was set up when the Tories were in power. Therefore, I am delighted that the Tories are opposing the bill.

As a member of both the Health Committee and the Finance Committee, I have been fortunate to have read and heard a significant amount of written and oral evidence that will, I hope, shape the way that the bill ends up. The Health Committee's stage 1 report details the several concerns that were raised, which I thank the minister for attempting to clarify during stage 1 and in a recent letter to the convener of the Health Committee. I certainly found it useful to have some of the outstanding issues clarified.

I particularly welcome the minister's commitment to allow the Health Committee to comment on the draft regulations and statutory guidance on the operation of community health partnerships. In principle, CHPs are a good thing, as they should ensure that services are delivered in a way that puts patients at the heart of the service. An important feature is that CHPs will enable all the agencies to work together, which has often not happened very well in the past. CHPs will also ensure that services are planned by the people who deliver them.

Some of those who gave evidence raised concerns, which have been raised again this afternoon, about the membership, governance and geographic boundaries of CHPs. However, most of those concerns have been addressed by the minister during stage 1 or will be covered in the regulations and guidance, into which the Health Committee will now have some input.

I had some concerns about the powers of intervention, although I whole-heartedly agree with the need for the Scottish ministers to have such powers for exceptional circumstances. The intervention that took place in the health board in my area was welcome as it has resulted in services being delivered in a very different way. However, I still think that the bill, the explanatory notes and the minister's evidence to the Health Committee are unclear about what "intervention" means and about the circumstances in which the powers of intervention would be used. I realise that it would be impossible to provide an exhaustive list of circumstances, but I would feel more comfortable about agreeing to the Scottish ministers having such wide-ranging powers if I was clearer about what the powers were and when they would be used.

I am also concerned about the estimated cost of intervention that Shona Robison mentioned. I have some sympathy with the SNP amendment, although Shona Robison will hardly be surprised to learn that I will not support it. I will not support the SNP amendment because it says that

"there must be safeguards in place to ensure the independence of the proposed new Scottish Health Council".

I am reassured by the commitment that the minister gave in his letter to Christine Grahame, in which he said that the steering group that is setting up the new Scottish health council and the local advisory councils will consider management issues and how to safeguard the health council's independence. I think that the Health Committee will want to monitor the issue, but I am reassured by the minister's commitment.

I agree with the concerns raised in the SNP amendment about the additional costs that might arise from the bill. Indeed, I completely disagree with Mike Rumbles on that matter. He is being very unrealistic if, on the evidence of a small health board that has coterminous boundaries with a local authority, he believes that having unified health boards will lead to savings and that that situation will necessarily be replicated elsewhere in Scotland. Notwithstanding that, I will not support the SNP amendment.

In the Finance Committee—and, I think, in the Health Committee—I raised concerns that the costs of intervention had been significantly underestimated. Indeed, it is not that the costs have been underestimated; it is that we just do not know what the costs will be. The Scottish Executive's estimate, which was in the region of £85,000, was based on its intervention in Tayside Health Board some time ago. In his summing-up, will the minister tell us why that figure was plucked out of the air and used as an estimate, rather than the figure of £300,000, which was the cost of the more recent intervention in NHS Argyll and Clyde?

Unusually, I find myself agreeing again with Shona Robison on the issue of intervention. In most cases, the Scottish ministers will intervene because financial problems in health boards have led to the discovery of operational problems. As a result, I find it very strange that a health board will have to pick up the tab for intervention, especially as that figure has not been worked out sensibly.

Despite those comments, the legislation is very welcome and could potentially bring the NHS in Scotland up to date as a dynamic and efficient service for the people whom we represent. The minister has already shown great willingness to take on board the issues that were raised during stage 1. I hope that he will address issues that members in the chamber and in various committees have raised and ensure that what the Executive delivers through this legislation makes a positive difference to health services in Scotland. 15:32

Rob Gibson (Highlands and Islands) (SNP): I hope that the reform will bring welcome stability to the structure of the NHS. After all, the many changes over the years have led people to lose heart in the NHS's claim that it puts patients at the core of its activities. From the Conservatives' comments about foundation hospitals, I do not really believe that they are interested one bit in patients. Because of our general communitarian spirit in Scotland, we believe that we can create a public structure that will put patients at its heart and that will in due course give them the confidence to feel that they can receive treatment where they need it.

The creation of CHPs will mean some centralisation, because in some of the remote places in the area that I represent local health care co-operatives were bedding in and working quite well. The islands have a separate set-up, because they are small enough to be coterminous with local authority boundaries; however, in the Highland Council area, that slight centralisation will require some staff regrading. Indeed, that might well be the case in some other health board areas and CHPs elsewhere. Some retraining will be required, so extra costs will be incurred. That is a small example of how aspects of the changes that cannot yet be quantified will test the system. I will return later to finance.

I agree with Unison that front-line staff and people who deliver the services will have much more of a say within the proposed structure. However, like Unison, I would prefer trade unions to be more formally involved at health board and CHP levels; I would be interested to hear the minister's comments on that.

On health promotion, I should point out that we already have a structure for a sickness service. However, I wonder whether the minister hopes to have an overarching brief for the Government's approach to the matter. Health boards are being given responsibilities in health promotion, but NHS Scotland must provide benchmarks and targets for other departments, whether in food production or in the various means by which we ensure that the population has a healthy life. Health promotion is an exciting area and I welcome its potential. However, it must cut across other departments and the health service must take a strong lead. When the minister winds up, I hope to hear a bit about that.

On regional working, the managed clinical networks about which we hear so much tend to think about patients being moved to where the specialisms are. I will be interested in how the new structures in the health service will create contracts that take the specialists to where the patients are. A members' business debate on maternity services is coming up next week, which I hope to lead.

Mr Keith Raffan (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD): Will the member give way?

Rob Gibson: Excuse me; I will finish my point.

The patients rather than the professionals are expected to travel to many central points.

Mr Raffan: I thank Rob Gibson for giving way. I have seen how managed clinical networks work in Tayside and Fife and Mr Gibson's point about specialists is not accurate—certainly not in my experience of the health boards in my region—because they do travel. Does he agree that with the developing information technology within the NHS, distance and travel are becoming irrelevant anyway?

Rob Gibson: I recommend that Keith Raffan attend the debate about maternity services in Caithness.

I was surprised to hear Mike Rumbles dismissing the Conservatives by saying that we should not expect people to travel hundreds of miles. That is precisely what is happening to people in the north of Scotland who need treatment. That is why we hope that the managed clinical networks will take a different approach from that of merely moving patients.

On public involvement, the proposed Scottish health council that will replace the existing structure seems to me to be a form of centralisation, but one which could be powerful. I am surprised that it has not so far been suggested that local involvement could happen through elections and that the national committee could also be elected. We want more active citizens, so let us see whether the minister has ideas about having a directly elected Scottish health council.

As far as finances are concerned, the geography of Scotland will not change. We have accumulated debts in various parts of the health service, so we are not starting with a blank sheet. The proposed reforms can create stability in organisation, but there will have to be generosity from the Government and, indeed, extra cash if we are ever to provide the practitioners who will help patients through the managed clinical networks.

I very much welcome the bill, but I have concerns about the finance arrangements—those arrangements have not been clearly stated—and I have questions about the accountability and democracy of the proposed Scottish health council. I reserve my judgment on those issues and will wait to see what happens. I support Shona Robison's remarks.

I crave members' indulgence; I must now leave the chamber to attend to a constituency matter. 15:38

Eleanor Scott (Highlands and Islands) (Green): First, I say for the record that until last May's elections I was a doctor in the NHS and that I am still a member of the British Medical Association.

I generally welcome the bill's provisions, which will make NHS structures more logical and more functional. I hope that the new structures will ultimately make staff happier because low staff morale in the NHS is one of the biggest problems in recruitment and retention. I, too, support Shona Robison's amendment and will say why as I go through my speech.

I welcome the opportunity that the bill gives to streamline NHS management, but I agree with one of the evidence givers to the committee-I cannot remember who-who said that people who work in the NHS have no appetite for major upheaval. Dr Jean Turner and other members referred to a history of changes, which has had a definite effect on staff morale; there is concern at ground level about the impact of another change in management structure. There is sometimes a perception that a change in the management structure means that it is one step removed from the patients. However, I know from experience that being in the front line of patient contact while being managed by somebody who is demoralised and insecure and who does not know whether their job will be there after the next reorganisation is not good for anybody. It is important that the change is effected relatively seamlessly.

I understand that the bill is intended to be cost neutral, but I doubt that that will be the case in the short term. There is always a transitional cost whenever there is change.

Mr McNeil: Eleanor Scott has mentioned uncertainty about finance a couple of times. Does she agree that the evidence shows that the people who have moved to a single board—in the Borders and in Ayrshire and Arran—have said that, in their experience, the process was not costly and could actually create savings?

Eleanor Scott: As I was saying, there will be savings in the medium term, because bureaucracy will be cut down, and I think that there will ultimately be savings. However, change always brings a transitional cost, because there are always people whose jobs have to be protected and there are always redundancy payments to be made. That has to be factored in. I do not think that change ever comes cheap.

Phil Gallie: Will Eleanor Scott take an intervention on Ayrshire and Arran NHS Board?

Eleanor Scott: I have no expertise on Ayrshire and Arran, so I do not particularly want to take another intervention, if Mr Gallie does not mind. I come from the Highlands, so if members want to make interventions about Highland NHS Board, that is fine.

I hope that the Scottish Executive is ready for any investment that might be needed in the initial phase of change. It was noted in evidence to the committee that there has sometimes in the past been underinvestment in change, so that the change has not delivered as much as had been hoped. I note that local health care co-operatives, which we can now refer to as a kind of ancestor of community health partnerships, have lasted for only four or five years. However, they did make achievements-in inter-practice and community working, for example-during the years when they existed; care should be taken that that expertise is not lost. I agree that the community health partnerships should be better and that they should lead to better working with local authorities-with social work departments, for example.

I note in passing the democratic deficit that Bill Butler identified in his proposal that there be directly elected health boards. One wonders whether the logical end point would not therefore be to have health care delivery as a local authority function. I am not suggesting that as an amendment to the bill, but it is something that could perhaps be considered in the future.

I agree that the NHS must ensure public involvement, but I am not absolutely convinced that the new structures will in themselves deliver that at local, regional or national level. I wait with interest to see whether that happens. In that regard, I have some concerns about the numerous functions of NHS Quality Improvement Scotland that were identified by some witnesses who gave evidence and I am also concerned by the fact that the public are unlikely to view it—or the new pan-Scotland health council—as an independent body. There is a bit of selling to be done on that matter.

The provision for health boards' working together is welcome. The acute services review envisaged for Scotland an NHS without boundaries: I hope that the collaboration between health boards will be a move towards that and that it will be done on a planned and strategic basis, with one board undertaking to provide a specific specialist centralised service so that that service is provided in one centre and not everywhere. That would allow economies of scale and the development of expertise. I would hate to see the item-of-service payments-per-patient and approaches across health board working. I do not think that that is what the bill envisages-I hope that it is not. That transition will require a smooth transfer of resources between boards.

I note that the bill gives powers to ministers to intervene on health boards in the event of service

failure. I do not disagree with that, but I would like to turn that on its head and ask how sympathetically the minister would view and treat a health board that came to him to warn of an incipient failure due to funding shortages.

Finally, I would like to cite a point that the BMA made in its written evidence. It said that

"The BMA would like to see the health improvement strategy taken a step further where all policy decisions made by the Scottish Executive should be required to take account of potential health implications e.g. agricultural policy, housing policy",

and—dare I add it?—transport policy, just as equal opportunities and human rights must now be factored in. That would be a helpful step in mainstreaming health improvement, which is a major thrust towards the delivery of the health care that we want in Scotland.

15:44

Mary Scanlon (Highlands and Islands) (Con): I was pleased to be asked to speak in this debate on national health service reform, until I read the bill, that is—all six pages of it. A unified health board has already happened in the Borders without the bill, so I have to ask the minister what kind of an NHS we have that the Parliament has to legislate to place a duty on health boards to cooperate with other health boards. If the patient's needs came first, the health boards would have to talk to each other.

Consider the section of the bill on powers of intervention when there is service failure: what is acceptable and unacceptable? Are financial deficits as boards struggle to make ends meet acceptable? Will the long wait from GP referral to seeing a consultant or for a magnetic resonance imaging—MRI—scan be included in performance assessment?

I looked to the section that is entitled,

"Duty to promote health improvement"

in part 2 of the bill. The Western Isles NHS Board is certainly promoting health improvement, but that is exactly what boards are meant to have been doing for years.

Part 3 of the bill is even more exciting. It states:

"The Scottish Ministers may by order made by statutory instrument make such incidental, supplemental, consequential, transitional, transitory or saving provision as they consider necessary or expedient for the purposes, or in consequence, of this Act."

I think that the people of Scotland will all rest well in their beds tonight, given that they have received those assurances from the Minister for Health and Community Care.

Of course, the three island authorities already have unified boards. I will show how impressed

Orkney NHS Board was by the bill by quoting from its submission to the Health Committee. When it was asked whether it supported the general principles of the Bill, the board's response was that one member of the board did. The board's submission also states:

"We don't have a LHCC in Orkney and I do not know what kind of animal a CHP will be. I do not know where it sits in relation to the Joint Future Agenda."

It seems that the LHCCs have passed NHS Orkney by and that just as it was getting to grips with the joint future agenda, LHCCs have now been passed by for CHPs.

When Orkney NHS Board was asked about the quality of the consultation, it stated that five weeks was not enough—particularly given the active and highly regarded work that is done by the local health councils. The submission states that NHS Orkney

"would prefer that we have power to choose the way we spend the funds, as Scottish Executive directives don't always fit Orkney's situation".

At least we can depend on Orcadians to tell us how it is.

Again, on what constitutes an acceptable service, would NHS Orkney's cash-saving measure to cut the number of patients who go to Aberdeen for treatment because it does not have enough money be regarded as acceptable, or would that be a service failure? Perhaps the minister could tell us which cuts will be regarded as acceptable when the level of activity exceeds the financial allocation. I quote from a statement issued by NHS Orkney:

"Clinically urgent cases should continue to be dealt with where the Consultant feels that postponement of treatment would significantly impact on his/her patient's health."

We have had telemedicine for some years; now telepathic medicine is being applied from Aberdeen to Orkney. Those actions have been taken with no consultation of patients or GPs.

When the money comes through for the next financial year, there will already be a waiting list in Orkney left over from this year. I hope that the minister will now review the financial allocations to the three island authorities—Orkney NHS Board, Shetland NHS Board and the Western Isles NHS Board.

The policy memorandum states that the Executive's policy is that care should be delivered as close to home as possible; in Caithness, people would like their babies to be delivered as close to home as possible and in Applecross and Lochinver, on the west coast of Scotland, people would like an out-of-hours service that is closer to their homes than the east coast.

Western Isles NHS Board, which faces a £600,000 overspend, now has the pleasure of intervention by the man from the ministry. I understand that he has proposed that the Western Isles should have four medical directors—three more than Lothian NHS Board has, although the Western Isles has a fraction of the Lothians' population. Much more could be said about the Western Isles, but given the current problems with staff suspensions and so on it would be unwise to discuss the matter further.

Will the minister include registered practitioners of complementary medicine in the CHPs so that they are fully included in the delivery of health care and will he also ensure that the professions that are allied to medicine are included? As I said last week, the health service is not just about doctors and nurses.

I want to come back to a point on local authority accountability that Unison made in its submission to the Health Committee. I am pleased that Unison highlighted this point: if partnership is to work, the performance of social work must be monitored and evaluated. If the performance of social work is included, the proposals that are being discussed today will, I hope, help to meet the expectations that are being raised.

15:50

Mr Keith Raffan (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD): I welcome the principles on which the bill is based. The bill puts the treatment of patients first; or, to use the words of Dr Jean Turner, it will "improve the patient's journey", which is NHS jargon, but I like it. As the minister said, that means increasing the integration of primary and specialist services and removing the artificial barrier between the services that trusts represent.

I hope that the minister will agree that another artificial barrier is put up by the boundaries of the NHS boards. I welcome the emphasis that he placed on regional planning and on the boards collaborating with one another. As we move towards greater specialisation and, indeed, subspecialisation, such collaboration will be inevitable. In my region, that is very important; the region is covered by three health boards-Tayside NHS Board, Fife NHS Board and Forth Valley NHS Board. Only one-Tayside-has a teaching hospital. As the minister rightly said a couple of weeks ago in response to a question of mine at question time, extra strains are put on boards that do not have a teaching hospital. It makes it much harder to run them. Consultant vacancies invariably take longer to fill in boards in which there is no teaching hospital, which has a knockon effect on waiting lists and waiting times.

Earlier, I intervened on Rob Gibson. Where managed clinical networks exist—I would like

them to develop further—they can ignore health service boundaries. Tayside's managed clinical network on diabetes is very effective. Specialists go from Ninewells hospital into Fife to hold clinics; patients do not necessarily have to go up to Ninewells. That is integrating primary and specialist care effectively. We want those networks to develop.

I agree with Dr Turner about financial disputes; I have seen at first hand at health board meetings with MSPs disputes between different health boards over who should pay for what. An example of that concerns patients from north Fife who tend to go to Dundee to use services at Ninewells hospital, who should pay for health services that are used by Fife patients in Tayside. We have to sort out such problems, which can consume too much of management's energy and time.

As the minister said, CHPs, growing naturally as they do out of LHCCs, focus on local delivery. We all want the NHS to be much less of a national illness service, so there should be greater emphasis on primary care and on reducing hospital admissions.

A year or so ago, I spent a day at the Bellyeoman surgery in Dunfermline. I sat with one of the specialist nurses there—Nicky Credland as she saw patients. She saw a young boy who had asthma and was able to spend 30 to 45 minutes with him going through the different inhalers that he could use to see which would be most effective. Then—again with the patient's agreement—I sat in as the nurse talked at length to a middle-aged man who had recently been diagnosed as having diabetes. She gave him advice on diet, showed him different types of food and advised which he should eat and which he should not eat. She has time do that, whereas a GP does not.

I have seen the statistics, and the specialist nurse service at the Bellyeoman surgery has greatly reduced the need for hospital admissions. With the likely doubling of the incidence of diabetes over the next seven years, and with an aging population suffering from chronic diseases, I want an increase in specialist services especially for people with chronic diseases; for example, advice on arthritis or on stopping smoking or whatever. I want to see anything that will take pressure off GPs and acute services.

Public involvement is, of course, very important. I hope that we can learn lessons from the health boards' consultations during the acute services review—not all of which were very happy. It is important that public involvement is balanced, representative and genuine and I welcome the moves towards that in the bill. I also agree that the minister must have a clear power of intervention; I do not believe that that is contrary to devolved health service management. The minister's predecessor sent a task force into Tayside, which proved to be highly effective in combination—I like to think—with the work of the Parliament's Audit Committee, which also undertook an inquiry into the NHS in Tayside. That helped to set Tayside back on the right track. It is important that the minister has that power of intervention from the centre; the crucial thing is the timing of its use, which is a matter of judgment rather than something that can be set down in legislation.

It is important that the structure of the NHS keep pace with the development and integration of services. I have no doubt that the structures will continue to change and evolve as the integration of primary and specialist services continues and— I hope—accelerates. As all parties have occasionally pronounced, ultimately we will have to examine the number of health boards, but that is an issue for another day. The important thing is that structures are changed and are allowed to evolve as and when they should; they should be flexible, because their purpose is to serve the health service.

15:56

Des McNulty (Clydebank and Milngavie) (Lab): The fact that the bill will give ministers and health boards a duty to promote improvement to the physical and mental health of the Scottish public is potentially its most important element. As a former member of the then Greater Glasgow Health Board, I am well aware of the fact that spending on health improvement can be pressured or squeezed when the acute sector has clinical priorities. It is important not only that there is a duty to promote health improvement but that, to some extent, protected budgets are associated with promotion of health improvement. If we are to move from having a sickness service to having a health service-in principle, we all agree that we should do that-there must be some protection of the ability to deliver health improvement.

When the minister considers how to spend his £73 million over the next three years, he should have particular regard to distributing that money on the basis of health improvement need rather than general clinical need. There is a clear need for targeted health improvement, particularly in west-central Scotland, which has the worst health in the country. To reflect that pattern of need, the mechanism through which the minister should distribute money should be Arbuthnott plus, rather than Arbuthnott.

Some health improvement measures can be highly effective. In the past, I chaired Glasgow

healthy city partnership, which was responsible for a number of distinct health improvement initiatives that were targeted at particularly vulnerable groups in greater Glasgow. Many of those interventions were effective, but they survived on a hand-to-mouth basis; funding—which was the result of partnership between the health board and the local authority—was renewable every two or three years. There needs to be a solid strand of continuing funding and a commitment that health improvement measures will be implemented and will last for a considerable time.

Another important element in the bill is health boards' duty to co-operate. I accept what members have said about the importance of managed clinical networks, which are obviously valuable, but it is crucial that health boards cooperate with one another, not just in service delivery, but in planning. Health board boundaries are of necessity artificial—they are constructed on the map and they do not necessarily make sense when one looks at the map in the context of patterns of travel and use, for example.

We can continue with the existing health board boundaries, provided that they do not become barriers to sensible planning—there are instances in which that has happened. In pursuing the duty of health boards to co-operate, I hope that the minister will ensure that strategic planning is properly co-ordinated, that resources and ideas are transferred effectively and that there is a working out across health board boundaries of the best ways in which to deliver services, rather than each health board deciding for itself in a vacuum.

It is important that that regional planning is also linked to national planning. As can be seen from the minister's welcome intervention in taking over the Health Care International (Scotland) Ltd hospital and making it the national waiting times centre, national planning can be particularly effective in dealing with issues such as those that, for example, Jean Turner mentioned, including hip replacements, and with the issue of the cardiothoracic unit that we are consulting on with a view to taking it into HCI. Real and effective change can be delivered through co-ordinated regional and national planning-through people working out the best ways in which to work. Although HCI is making an excellent contribution already, it could do more. The one thing that I would hate to happen is for the vested interests of existing health boards and the ways in which money is transferred to be allowed to restrict the growth of the service that it is clear HCI can deliver.

I have some sympathy for some of the issues that Shona Robison raises in her amendment to the motion. For example, there is an issue about the advocacy role of health councils and how that is to be protected. There is also the issue of independence. As an ex-member of Greater Glasgow Health Board, I am well aware of the excellent work that was done by the greater Glasgow health council in contributing patient ideas and patient perceptions to the work of the board. I would hate to see that conduit of information and expertise lost. We need to watch that issue carefully.

I am a bit less convinced by Shona Robison's approach to the financial issues. That is largely because her party has to start from a position of the £2.1 billion that would be sacrificed if Scotland were to go down the constitutional route that the SNP favours. Of course, the deficit would be added to if the SNP got its way in relation to business taxes. Some SNP members advocate changes that are in line with the Conservatives' proposals, whereas others want to take different approaches. We have to be honest about the issue—we have to say that there is only so much money and we have to decide how best to deal with it.

There is a real issue of honesty in relation to consultation. Although I want to see better consultation, I do not want spent on consultation huge amounts of money that should be spent on patients. The real issue is to get the plans right first time and to consult efficiently and effectively. That is the way to improve the service to patients. As other members said, that is the most vital thing for us to do.

The final issue that I want to raise is the cost of intervention. I accept that ministers cannot necessarily cost intervention accurately before they have identified the problem that they want to resolve. However, the Finance Committee is clear that the evidence that we heard suggests that the cost of interventions will be more than was estimated in the financial memorandum for the bill. If the minister is going to use the power to intervene, he needs to draw up a pattern that shows how much an intervention will cost and how much can be delivered on that basis.

16:03

Ms Sandra White (Glasgow) (SNP): Des McNulty was doing so well, but as always, he spoiled what was a good contribution at the end. I point out to him that if Scotland was independent, the health service would not be in the situation that it is in today.

I give a sincere welcome to the bill. As Shona Robison and other members said, the bill is long overdue. I will not rehearse all of the problems that we have had with the health boards, consultations and so on. Instead, I want to concentrate on two specific areas. The first is the duty on health boards to co-operate in the planning and provision of services. My colleague Stewart Maxwell will elaborate on that issue in his contribution. The other area that I want to cover is the duty to encourage public involvement, which has caused such a lot of consternation not only in Glasgow but in other areas of the country. The reason why I cite those two areas for attention is that it was the lack of proper co-operation and public involvement that caused such a furore and such concern in the review of maternity services in Glasgow and the health board's recommendation to close the Queen Mother's hospital.

This morning, a petition was submitted to the Public Petitions Committee on behalf of six eminent medical practitioners. They called for some of the things that I think are included in the bill, but I ask the minister to clarify that when he sums up. The petitioners called for a legal framework for consultation, for guidelines and for an independent process for the selection of expert witnesses when a national review of services is to take place, whether or not that is a maternity services review. If those are included in the bill, that is most welcome. If they are not, perhaps the minister will lodge amendments at stage 2.

The minister said in his opening speech that the bill is very much needed. One of the key aims of the bill is to enhance the powers of ministers, in particular to intervene in areas where there are service failures. That point was raised by Kate Maclean. The powers that ministers will have are of concern.

I will elaborate on that a little bit. I have considered the issue from a different angle, through consultation, legal advice and the Scottish Parliament information centre. If it is found that health boards have not complied with the legislation, for example with section 5, on public involvement, will they be guilty under section 44(2) of the Criminal Law (Consolidation) (Scotland) Act 1995 of not following through an act of Parliament? I would like the minister to think about that. If he cannot give me an answer in summing up, he can give me an answer later.

I seek clarification because we all know that health boards have a duty to consult, but the bill will make the duty to encourage public involvement legally binding. If they do not do that, they will be guilty of committing a criminal act under the Criminal Law (Consolidation) (Scotland) Act 1995, because the duty is in the legislation. I would like verification of that important point.

I sought advice on that point when the health board's maternity review was on-going in Glasgow and was given lots of good legal advice by officials and SPICe. Because the duty to consult is only a duty, boards are not guilty of committing a criminal act for not carrying it out. However, if the duty is in legislation of the Scottish Parliament, they could be guilty of committing a criminal act. Would they be guilty of committing such a criminal act? Is the point that ministers have enhanced powers and can intervene?

Like other members, I am worried about the lack of detail in the financial memorandum. Perhaps we will see savings in the long term, but in the beginning, during the transition period, there will be costs. I ask the minister to look favourably on Shona Robison's amendment, and particularly the part about the financial memorandum, because it is not only me and my party who have raised concerns, but members from all parties.

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Murray Tosh): I call Carolyn Leckie, to be followed by Bristow Muldoon. I give notice that Bristow Muldoon and the others who speak in the open debate will have their time reduced to five minutes, with my apologies.

16:08

Carolyn Leckie (Central Scotland) (SSP): I welcome the abolition of trusts. It is no surprise that the Tories oppose it, although it is unusual for them to oppose NHS legislation from this Executive. However, I regret the phased approach that is being taken to the abolition of trusts, having been through the reorganisations as a result of trust mergers. The abolition of trusts and the direct control of health boards should have happened sooner, and the pain of reorganisation should have been avoided.

I will concentrate on the context in which any NHS legislation should be set, which is that of reversing our abominable health record. That should be the goal of any legislation. The duty in the bill to promote health improvement must be placed in perspective. People in the worst health areas are also poor. They earn only 65 per cent of what people in the best health areas earn. More than half of the million people in the United Kingdom who are worst off in health terms live in Scotland. If someone is poor, their risk of contracting coronary heart disease is more than doubled, their risk of contracting lung cancer is more than tripled, their life expectancy is reduced by up to 12 years and they have increased rates of suicide. Legislation without resources and radical economic and redistributive measures will mean that the achievement of health equality is a pipe dream. We must bear that in mind. Promotion, persuasion and propaganda will not improve the drastic health statistics of Scotland. Let us not pretend otherwise.

I want to discuss some specific aspects of the bill. I share the concerns that have been expressed about the absence of allocated resources to fund the bill. The costs relate not only to unifying health boards; some of the other measures will have cost implications. We need to bear in mind the fact that no savings were achieved through the reduction of trusts and trust mergers. When one considers the multitude of pressures caused by other legislation, the working time directive, consultant and GP contracts and so on, it is clear that the idea that this bill can be implemented without additional funding is preposterous.

The 1997 document, "Designed to Care: Renewing the National Health Service in Scotland", promised

"a National Health Service for the people of Scotland that offers them the treatment they need, where they want it, and when".

Has that promise translated to reality? It is unlikely that it has, particularly when one considers the loss of confidence in consultations by health boards, for example in maternity services, or the gap in the provision of out-of-hours GP cover. The bill gives us an opportunity to pursue meaningful consultation—that is the difference. We should be concerned not with hundreds of glossy leaflets or numerous roadshows, but with people's ability to affect consultation and to change outcomes if they feel disengaged from health boards.

At this morning's meeting of the Public Petitions Committee, Sandra White spoke to a petition relating to maternity services. I do not wish to get into the details of the petition, but I am glad that Sandra White did so. I urge the minister to consider the content of the petition when it arrives on his desk. I ask him to take evidence from the petitioners, as their suggestions could improve the bill at stage 2.

Phil Gallie: Carolyn Leckie referred to a 1997 document. The minister spoke of the great consultation processes under the new system. Is Carolyn Leckie aware that consultation about paediatric ward services in two hospitals in Ayrshire has been on-going for the past eight or nine months?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I ask Mr Gallie to come to the point.

Phil Gallie: Does she agree that a decision will be taken to close one of the units, regardless of the outcome of the consultation?

Carolyn Leckie: Will the Deputy Presiding Officer give me more time?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: It was a self-inflicted wound.

Carolyn Leckie: Phil Gallie's intervention was opportune and the problem he mentioned is not untypical of those faced across Scotland.

The SSP supports direct democracy and accountability of health boards. It believes that that is the only way to empower the public's opinion

and to prevent health boards from making bad decisions.

The proposed community health partnerships have been opposed. I share Unison's concern that there is no guarantee that geographical inequality will not spring up. I would appreciate a comment from the minister in that regard. I am unhappy about the composition of such partnerships, particularly the fact that trade unions are to be excluded from them. Why is business being included when trade unions and the public are being excluded?

While health councils are imperfect, at least they are statutory. The new proposals are neither statutory nor independent. I hope that that can be amended at stage 2.

The minister said that regional planning arrangements will be much more effective than has been the case in the past. If he acknowledges that regional planning has been ineffective until now, does he not consider that maternity services and hospitals should be given a stay of execution from centralisation and closure until effective regional planning, including full public consultation, is implemented across regions and across the country?

I am glad that staff governance is being implemented, but serious consideration should be given to Unison's demand that the terms and conditions of staff be harmonised. There should be direct employment by health boards and accrued terms and conditions should be protected so that staff can transfer without losing them.

The bill does not provide for a sufficiently democratic or accountable structure. I have a number of other criticisms of it, but it can be improved and I hope that it will be.

16:14

Bristow Muldoon (Livingston) (Lab): I welcome the general principles of the bill and I hope that members from all parties—with the possible exception of the Tories—will back it at stage 1 today. The bill marks the completion of reforms to remove marketisation from the health service, which started off with "Designed to Care" back in 1997, and which have been rolling back the agenda of marketisation that the last Tory Government introduced.

Like my colleague, Kate Maclean, I am very much encouraged by the Tories' attitude in opposing the bill. If they oppose it, there must be quite a bit of merit in it. Their continuing hostility to the national health service and its founding principles shows what a threat to the NHS the reelection of a Tory Government would be. One area of the bill that I strongly welcome, and which lies at its heart, is the establishment of the new community health partnerships, which will build on existing strong local partnerships. In my intervention on Mr Davidson, I referred to a strong and growing partnership in West Lothian where, as the minister knows, detailed discussions are taking place between the health board and the local council on ways to bring budgets together and to enhance the delivery of services, particularly for elderly people.

That builds on a strong existing relationship, which has already had some successes over recent years, including the establishment of the Strathbrock partnership centre in Broxburn, which brings together enhanced GP services-with more primary care facilities being provided-and has social care staff working in partnership with the primary care staff. A partnership between the health service in West Lothian and West Lothian Council gave rise to the opening of a new GP practice in south Livingston, which will address problems of population growth in that area. Therefore, strong partnerships between local authorities and the health service already exist, and I believe that the creation of new community health partnerships, and the emphasis on their being, where practical, coterminous with the local authority area, will prove to be a strength of the eventual act.

On unified health boards, Rob Gibson, and later Carolyn Leckie, spoke about the role of the trade unions and staff. I think that the current Government has done more than any previous Government to try to involve staff in decisions in the national health service. The well-known Unison representative in my area—and a national representative—Eddie Egan, is employee director of Lothian NHS Board. He is right at the heart of many of the key decisions that affect health in the Lothians.

Carolyn Leckie: Does the member agree that, if trade union involvement in democracy is to be genuine, employee directors should be accountable to their members and not to the Scottish Executive, as is currently the case?

Bristow Muldoon: Anyone who has ever known or met Eddie Egan will know that he is 100 per cent committed to the national health service and to delivering the service to the people. I do not think that he would ever take a decision on the health board that would compromise that commitment.

Carolyn Leckie in particular addressed some of the pressures that face the unified health boards, which include the European working time directive and changes in how medical staff are trained. I would like a clear message to be sent out to the health boards that such pressures are not to be used as a reason to centralise acute services. Of course, where there is a strong clinical case to do so, highly specialised acute services will be provided at only a small number of sites, but we must ensure that the public receive their health service as locally as possible. That is good clinical practice and ensures access.

Health improvement is one of the most critical areas for Scotland. We must recognise that many countries that are poorer than Scotland have better health than Scotland. Largely, the situation comes down to personal behaviour and choice about alcohol consumption, the use of tobacco, diet and exercise. The role of health boards and local authorities, working together, can be vital in helping to develop the health improvement agenda and creating a healthier Scotland.

I believe that the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill completes the process of ending the marketisation of the NHS that the Tories started. It will enable the NHS to enhance the local delivery of health services, particularly through primary health care facilities. We must ensure that there is no centralisation of acute health services.

It is clear that, with the exception of the Tories, every member and every party fully supports the NHS. I call on every member to express that support by expressing their support for the bill today.

16:20

Mr Brian Monteith (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): I am pleased to rise as a Tory. Before devolution, one of the concerns that many people expressed about Labour's proposals was the potential that they offered not for real devolution of power to the people but for the centralisation of power, not in the Parliament but among Government ministers and their departments. I believe that the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill is yet more proof—as if it were needed—that those fears were well founded.

One of the first acts of the Parliament was to abolish self-governing status for Scotland's schools, which was a symbol—albeit a small one—of what was to come. Since then we have seen moves towards a national transport authority, an all-encompassing cultural quango and ever more ring fencing of local authority spending. We have seen the merger of trusts—an action that led directly to the rationalisation of hospitals—and now we see their abolition. Those moves, together with the bill, are all about centralisation. There is no other word for it.

What we know—as would anyone who cared to turn over the stone—is that, within the Scottish Executive Health Department over the past few years, an almighty private debate has gone on among civil servants, advisers and ministers about whether to devolve decision making in the NHS further down to the trusts or to centralise it in the boards. As we know, the centralisers won. Sam Galbraith ultimately triumphed and got his wish he wanted to centralise power in the boards for no other reason than that the Tories brought in the trusts. That was evidenced by a number of unguarded comments today.

Let us agree on some facts. The trusts are being replaced by divisions run by the health boards.

Malcolm Chisholm: I repeat to Brian Monteith that the decentralisers won, which is why we are setting up community health partnerships. That must be done within a framework of national standards and with a power to intervene as a last resort.

Mr Monteith: The minister might not like the words of Tony Blair, but he clearly likes the words of Eric Blair, because that intervention was nothing less than double speak. The bill abolishes NHS trusts but replaces them with operating divisions under health boards. It extends ministerial powers to intervene and establishes 50 community health partnerships, developed from the 80 local health care co-operatives. To me, that is nothing less than centralisation.

What is being discarded is not great swathes of bureaucrats, but the independence of thought and action that the trusts enjoyed. That independence allowed trusts to respond to local or sectoral needs and demands. What the bill proposes can only be called centralisation.

No savings are promised, just greater direction from the centre disguised by euphemisms such as guidance, co-ordination and—Labour's favourite word—strategy.

Mike Rumbles: Will the member give way?

Mr Monteith: I will possibly give way later.

No savings are promised, for none is expected. Indeed, we can expect costs to rise. That is why the minister has taken the precaution of presenting a financial memorandum to authorise additional costs, which he fears will arise.

I have no doubt that everyone in the chamber wants to see top-class, world-beating public services in Scotland. Unlike the Prime Minister, Bristow Muldoon and Rob Gibson, I do not challenge the motives of members of other parties or question their good intentions. Where I differ is in questioning the belief that market systems cannot be utilised to provide better public services. They can, even in health care.

The NHS has prospered for more years under the Tories than under Labour. When I look at the

spectacles that members in the chamber are wearing, do I see NHS spectacles or frames? No, I do not; I see designer frames. Devolving power down to the lowest level can liberate our NHS and make it more responsive to patients' needs. That is the direction in which we should be going.

16:24

Mr Stewart Maxwell (West of Scotland) (SNP): I assure Brian Monteith that this is not an unguarded comment: I completely and wholeheartedly welcome the abolition of the NHS trusts. We are long past the time when they should have gone.

I am sorry that Des McNulty has left the chamber because I want to mention the rather silly point that he made about debt in Scotland. The UK debt is many billions of times more than the supposed and inaccurate figures that were given out about Scottish debt. If debt is to be the criterion for independence and for good public services, the UK fails the test in spades. Perhaps Des McNulty should think twice before he goes down such silly roads.

The real problem with the NHS structure is the discrepancies and lack of co-operation that exist between health boards. That is why I welcome the formalisation of the duty of co-operation in section 3, which could prove to be an important step in improving and equalising service delivery throughout the country. Perhaps when the deputy minister sums up, he will explain what will happen if health boards fail to abide by section 3, given that many boards are failing to co-operate at present, although a duty to do so does not exist in legislation. If the bill becomes an act and section 3 is approved, what will happen if health boards fail to abide by it?

I will give three examples that shine a light on the lunacy of the current situation, in which different decisions are taken in different but often neighbouring health board areas. The examples are maternity services, postcode prescribing and drug rehabilitation services and prescribing.

Other members have mentioned the first example. The situation with maternity services in Glasgow and the west of Scotland is, frankly, woeful. Neighbouring health boards appear to have taken no cognisance of each other in taking decisions about maternity services provision. The west of Scotland has lost consultant-led services at the Vale of Leven hospital in Dunbartonshire and the Rankin maternity unit in Greenock. When those moves were first mooted, it was stated that mothers-to-be could travel to Paisley to have their babies, if they so wished. However, when it was pointed out that the natural transport corridors for people who live north of the River Clyde and from the Vale of Leven hospital area are up the north side of the river to Glasgow rather than across it there are no decent public transport links between Dunbartonshire and Renfrewshire—it was suggested that patients could choose Glasgow as the place to have their babies.

Within weeks of the comments by Argyll and Clyde NHS Board, Greater Glasgow NHS Board announced its plans to close the Queen Mother's hospital, which is north of the river, and, in effect, to remove that choice from women in the Dunbartonshire and Argyll areas. If the Queen Mother's hospital is closed, the services will be transferred to the Southern general hospital, which is south of the River Clyde. The lack of joined-up thinking between the two boards is not only a problem of administration; it has a detrimental impact on ordinary patients' lives and on their dayto-day experience of the health service in one of the most crucial areas—giving birth to their children.

The second example is the issue that is commonly called postcode prescribing. I will cite the example of a couple who came to see me at a surgery, which highlights the different policies in the health board areas of Argyll and Clyde and Glasgow. The minister will be aware of the issue because I have written to him about it-it is about differences in fertility treatment between Glasgow and Argyll and Clyde. The man in question had cancer, which I am glad to say was treated and cleared up, but, unfortunately, the treatment made him infertile. The man then sought the infertility treatment that would allow his family to grow, but Argyll and Clyde NHS Board said that it would not pay for the treatment and, worse than that, that it would not pay for the drugs. The family then found out that if they had lived a couple of miles up the road in the Glasgow area, Greater Glasgow NHS Board would have paid for the drugs, although it would not have paid for the infertility treatment. That is a cost of £1,000 to patients in Argyll and Clyde that does not exist for those in Glasgow.

My third example is about methadone prescribing. Unfortunately, a boy died in the Barrhead area of East Renfrewshire because no tests were taken before he was prescribed methadone. The fatal accident inquiry has just been completed. If the boy had lived in Glasgow, tests would have been carried out: it would have been discovered that he did not have heroin in his system; he probably would not have been prescribed methadone, which was inappropriate; and the outcome would have been different. In fact, the boy had Valium in his system, which is potentially lethal when combined with methadone, as many members will be aware. That lack of testing means that, in certain areas, people can be prescribed methadone at the same time as they

are taking drugs that should not be mixed with methadone.

In conclusion, the three examples that I have cited show the importance of co-operation among health boards and why we must end the inconsistent service delivery throughout Scotland. I hope that section 3 of the bill will end such problems, inconsistencies and discrepancies and that the bill is strong enough. If it is not, I hope that stage 2 amendments will be lodged to ensure that postcode prescribing and differences are ended and problems are sorted out.

16:30

Mike Rumbles: This has been a good debate and members have made interesting speeches. I would like to focus on half a dozen of those contributions.

Jean Turner said that the bill is about improving the patient's journey. I could not agree more—that is what the bill is about. The patient must be the focus of everything that the national health service and the Parliament do. Jean Turner made it clear that she supported the general principles of the bill in the committee and that she will support its general principles at decision time.

Unfortunately, Rob Gibson is not in the chamber—I understand that he has been called away. He called for extra cash and talked about uncertainty, which my Labour colleagues have highlighted. The point was made that that ignores the evidence that has been given to us by NHS boards that have gone through the process—Dumfries and Galloway NHS Board and Borders NHS Board.

Carolyn Leckie: Will the member take an intervention?

Mike Rumbles: No—I must press on.

Eleanor Scott made an interesting speech. I was a bit agog when she ventured to suggest that health provision in Scotland could become a function of local authorities. I met a group of local authority leaders last night over dinner and I am sure that they would really welcome such an initiative. I assume that Eleanor Scott was not being serious.

Helen Eadie (Dunfermline East) (Lab): Is the member aware that, in Denmark, a function of local authorities is to manage health budgets and to provide the service?

Mike Rumbles: I thank the member for intervening. I was not aware of that, but I am now.

Mary Scanlon made fun of NHS Orkney's supposed opposition to the bill. My colleague Duncan McNeil said to Steve Conway of NHS Orkney by videolink:

6211

"you say in your evidence that you generally support the bill."

Steve Conway replied:

"The bill is about making better use of the resources that are available."—[*Official Report, Health Committee*, 6 January 2004; c 499.]

Des McNulty took the opportunity to raise, among guite a few issues, the Arbuthnott formula and he talked about Arbuthnott plus. I have real difficulties with what he said and will respond on three points. First, it is absolutely and fundamentally right that we have a progressive and clearly redistributive taxation system and it is right that those who can afford to pay more should do so. Many such people are constituents of mine in north-east Scotland, in West Aberdeenshire and Kincardine. I recognise that people in the northeast are better off than people elsewhere in Scotland. The taxation system is the process through which we can redistribute.

Secondly, the Arbuthnott formula makes the big mistake of considering only deprivation indices between health boards. There are areas of deprivation throughout Scotland and we should focus on how we should tackle that problem rather than on the relationship between health boards as if deprivation appears in one health board area but does not appear in another health board area. That issue needs to be tackled throughout Scotland.

Thirdly, I will take NHS Grampian as an example. NHS Grampian is responsible for 10 per cent of Scotland's national health service activity, but receives only 9 per cent of the record resources that are being allocated by the Scottish Executive. For such reasons, we must have a review of the Arbuthnott formula. I suppose that at least I agree with Des McNulty on that matter, although we obviously have opposite reasons for thinking that there should be a review.

The pièce de résistance of the debate was David Davidson's speech, to which I must return. I would like to know how the Tories can support the abolition of NHS trusts in committee and sign up to a unanimously agreed report in favour of the general principles of the bill, yet, in this afternoon's debate on that report and the motion, the same Tory spokesperson can state clearly that they are against the bill in principle.

That is no way in which to conduct business in the committees of the Parliament. We all compromise in an attempt to reach agreement if we can. The most honest approach would have been to make it clear to all colleagues on the committee that the bill would be opposed in principle by the Conservatives—an honourable position—instead of giving the pretence of support to try to mould the committee's report, as may have occurred. That practice would be unacceptable and would undermine the work of the committee. A more likely explanation—there is only one other explanation that I can think of—is that, when the rest of the Tory group found out what their health spokesman was up to, they forced him to change his mind. I do not believe that David Davidson is dishonourable. I think that it is likely that that happened at the Tory group meeting yesterday or the day before.

The bill sets out to abolish NHS trusts and seeks to ensure that the patient's interests are put first and that services are planned efficiently and effectively throughout the national health service. It is a good bill and I urge members to support it at decision time.

16:36

Mrs Nanette Milne (North East Scotland) (Con): Members have heard from David Davidson why we will not support the motion. I emphasise that I did not work in the health service for more than 20 years without believing in it.

Although the general principles of the bill are aimed at achieving a more streamlined and unified NHS, the resulting organisation will still be centrally driven, as Brian Monteith said, with the Executive empowering the new health boards to run the service via operations divisions derived from the abolished trusts and with community health partnerships representing the primary care sector and associated health professionals. The intention is to focus more on the patient and to increase input from the patient; however, the structure will still be top down and driven from the centre. As David Davidson said, that concept is fundamentally at odds with our thinking, which unequivocally puts the patient at the heart of the service-a patient who is empowered to get appropriate treatment whenever and wherever it is needed.

Budgets that were progressively devolved to local levels through GPs would allow GPs to take responsibility for all their patients' care, including health-related social services, and would bring the budget for health and social care within the health service. That would allow social and nursing care to be commissioned from the most appropriate source in either the public or the private sector and would significantly reduce the problem of delayed discharge from secondary to primary care.

The gradual introduction of foundation status for hospitals in the public sector, together with the introduction of a patient passport, would eventually enable GPs to commission all care and would allow hospitals to plan on their own behalf in response to local demand. Alongside that, the role of health boards would be progressively reduced, bringing the service ever closer to the patient.

The Labour Party at Westminster has come close to adopting our approach by setting up foundation hospitals. Indeed, it has gone further by planning independent diagnostic treatment centres for south of the border, which will allow many more patients to receive appropriate and timely secondary care in new centres that are staffed from outwith the NHS. That care will follow referral by the NHS and will be paid for by the NHS. The centres will help to overcome the lack of capacity in the health service and will work in the best interests of patients. The new system was approved by Labour MPs at Westminster, many of whom represent Scottish constituencies. If such a system is reckoned by Scottish Labour MPs to be good for English patients, should not the Executive consider following their example for the benefit of patients up in Scotland?

Mike Rumbles: Will the member take an intervention on that point?

Mrs Milne: I am not going to take interventions.

That is all that I will say about our views. Members know where we are coming from and why we oppose the bill in principle.

There is a lot of concern in all quarters about the detail of the bill, even among those who think that it will go a long way towards improving the NHS in Scotland. I am not a member of the Health Committee, but I have read the committee's report from cover to cover, including all the evidence that is appended to it. Almost every piece of evidence in that document contains caveats. Many witnesses said that the proposed structural changes, in order to be effective, would have to be accompanied by a culture change, with hearts and minds showing willingness to co-operate across boundaries, whether those are geographical, between health boards and local authorities, or between different professions in the NHS.

There are particularly widespread concerns about the composition and role of the proposed community health partnerships; about the independence of the new Scottish health council if it is placed, as planned, within NHS QIS; about the meaningful involvement of patients in planning and developing the service; and about the powers of ministerial intervention when the system shows signs of failure and who would bear the cost of such intervention. There is also widespread concern about how the proposed changes will be financed; few seem to agree with the Executive that the bill will be financially neutral.

I have heard those concerns voiced by members throughout the chamber this afternoon—by Shona Robison, Jean Turner, Rob Gibson, Eleanor Scott, Mary Scanlon, Des McNulty, Sandra White, Carolyn Leckie and even Kate Maclean. In fact, such concerns have been voiced by almost every member who has spoken in today's debate.

I am particularly concerned about the composition and size of the proposed community health partnerships. Despite the minister's reassuring words, associated health professionals seem to fear that GPs and nurses will dominate the CHPs; almost every associated professional organisation is clamouring for representation on the CHP boards. I worry that that could result in large, unwieldy organisations, along with dilution of the essential primary care input and loss of the goodwill that will be required for the proper functioning of the partnerships. It is crucial that the CHPs are dynamic and that they work effectively, as Shona Robison said.

Co-operation with local authority services will be vital. Although coterminous boundaries will help with that, unified health and social budgets will be necessary for long-term success in the area. That is being planned in some authorities, as we have heard.

In the event that the motion is agreed to today, the statutory guidance and regulations in relation to the operation of CHPs will be all-important. I am glad that the Health Committee will have the opportunity to scrutinise the guidance and regulations and to comment on them before they are introduced. It is clear that there is a long way to go and that there are many issues to be resolved before the bill finally becomes law. Assuming that the bill continues through the parliamentary process, we will take our full part in scrutinising the detail at stages 2 and 3. However, for the reasons that I have given, we will not support it at stage 1.

16:42

Stewart Stevenson (Banff and Buchan) (SNP): We welcome the ending of the NHS trusts and the burden that they have placed on the organisation of the NHS over a period of time. We welcome the move towards integrated working and the assurance that goes with it that a single system does not imply a centralised system. Of course, those assurances will go for nought if the implementation drops short of that and we will remain alert and watch carefully as the implementation of the proposals evolves.

The minister, in his response to the various committees' investigations of the bill to date, has made encouraging signs of flexibility. For example, he has shown that he is prepared to amend the bill at stage 2 on local staff governance. I will return shortly to the apparent lack of flexibility on finance.

The Executive has turned its mind with great energy to consultation across many of its policy areas. There are clear signs—in the consultation on this bill, as in many others—that although the process allows the public and special interest groups to make their points, the Executive's specific responses are not always so clear. Not all points that are made in response to a consultation can be accepted, because consultations bring out points that conflict with each other; that is a fact of life. However, there is considerable scope for improving the feedback to consultees.

Bill Butler made a point about direct elections to health boards. I have enormous sympathy with that idea and I know that my colleagues feel the same.

I give the minister early warning that if he is not able to indicate, in his summing-up, a preparedness to take away and re-present the financial memorandum in the light of the comments that have been made today, it is likely that we will be unable to support the motion on the financial resolution come decision time. Nonetheless, we will support the substantive motion on the bill and I look forward to doing that.

Like Kate Maclean, I was extremely reassured to hear the Tories' concerns about the bill and similarly felt that we must be on the right track. Of course, the Tories have mentioned the money that will be required for the bill. However, I recall John Scott telling me in a previous debate that he did not care how much it would cost to decommission nuclear power stations, so the Tories' interest in money is somewhat selective. I will return to that issue. Kate Maclean also broke with tradition by putting Mike Rumbles in his place over some of his remarks.

Eleanor Scott made an excellent contribution to the debate by making the point about health improvement that the British Medical Association raised in its evidence to the Health Committee. The BMA wants the health improvement strategy to be taken further, so that all policy decisions take account of health. Rural areas in particular cannot be developed if they do not have health provision. Without health provision, the development policies simply will not work.

My colleague John Swinney made an important point about consultation. Tayside's three public partnership groups count for nought if local services are cut in the face of considered and considerable input from local communities. The minister might care to ponder whether there is any value in consultation that leads to no change.

Carolyn Leckie, quite rightly, echoed Unison's point about the need to ensure that the trade unions and staff are fully involved in the process. Indeed, Unison's written submission incorporated the Munich declaration, which highlighted the need for authorities across Europe to strengthen nursing and midwifery by

"Ensuring a nursing and midwifery contribution to decisionmaking at all levels of policy development and implementation". Let us hope that there is considerable scope for that in the way forward that the Executive has chosen.

If we do not get the staff on board, we will not be able to deliver for patients or for the public purse. Staff must end up in a position in which they are given individual freedom to make decisions that are in the interests of the service and in the interests of patients. Health service staff want to help patients. That is the fuel in their tank. That is the engine that drives them.

Let me turn to finance—I see that the Tories nearly woke up at the mention of that word. Paragraph 33 of the stage 1 report states:

"The Health Committee shares the concerns of the Finance Committee insofar as we believe the cost of intervention has been considerably underestimated".

We should hear more about that. Paragraph 62 states:

"The Committee would not wish to see the initial phase of change compromised in any way due to a lack of funding ... The Committee seeks further reassurance from the Minister".

I hope that the minister will be able to give us that reassurance.

I also highlight paragraph 65. Mr Rumbles signed up to that paragraph in its entirety, so I note his comments about the Tory member of the committee. Paragraph 65 states:

"The Health Committee endorses the view of the Finance Committee. We are not convinced that no additional funding will be required to increase public involvement."

The financial memorandum, which was considered by the Finance Committee, sums up the many changes that the bill will make to the NHS. The Finance Committee's report on the financial memorandum stated that

"it was regrettable that further information could not be provided"

about the costs of the bill, so there is clearly an issue about costs. On the costs of using the powers of intervention, Argyll and Clyde NHS Board thought that the cost per intervention would be £200,000, whereas the Executive says that it would be £85,000. Quite a lot of work is obviously needed on the costs associated with the bill. That is why the Finance Committee said that the work that the Executive had done did not provide adequate information about costs.

Even the Subordinate Legislation Committee, from which we seldom hear very much, had quite a lot to say about the powers that the Scottish ministers will retain for themselves. That committee expressed some concern and unease about the four significant powers that ministers will retain.

I must respond to Brian Monteith, who referred to Eric Blair. Brian Monteith is certainly not a

Winston Smith, but far less is he a Winston Churchill. He has neither the gravitas, the dedication nor the insight.

It is 40 years since I worked in the health service. I do not want a health service that is driven by an economic model in which the purchase of health care by money, however obtained, delivers dividends to people who provide it. All of us, apart from the Tories, want a health service that is driven by people's health needs and which delivers a dividend of good health and protection from illness to all people in our society, whatever their condition.

16:50

Deputy Minister for Health and The Community Care (Mr Tom McCabe): I have listened with interest to this afternoon's debate and, in my closing remarks, I will do my best to address at least some of the issues that have been raised. As Malcolm Chisholm said earlier, the bill contains some important provisions that are necessary for building a strong NHS, whose strength lies close co-operation in and patients collaboration among staff, and Government. For that reason, the bill has generally received wide support from many organisations that represent NHS, staff and patient interests.

I will begin by addressing the issue of public involvement. Shona Robison set out her concerns about the need for safeguards to the independence of the Scottish health council. We are already in discussion with the Scottish Association of Health Councils and other bodies on how best to achieve that. The council needs to be able to act independently if it is to command respect and credibility in its quality assurance and monitoring role. After all, its whole approach will be based on evidence and the ability to report openly what it finds. Those are key criteria of independence.

The Scottish health council does not need to be isolated in order to act independently. Although I know that some would like the Scottish health council to be a completely separate organisation, we think that there are alternatives. For example, establishing the Scottish health council as a unique and distinct part of NHS QIS has a number of advantages. First, it will help to contribute to the wider quality agenda. It will also offer the council the clout and profile that NHS QIS has to address deficiencies when standards fall short of what is expected. Boards will know what is expected of them and what the standards are. We are developing guidance on how boards can involve the public and will make that available to the Health Committee shortly. We seek to create a Scottish health council that will strengthen quality and public involvement and that will clearly express its own views and findings. Although it will fit within NHS QIS, it will have its own distinctive identity and ways of doing things.

Members also raised concerns that local advisory councils will not represent patients' views, although I know that some have been reassured by what they have heard. I hope that, as we have made clear today, the new structure will encourage patients to speak for themselves and, where they cannot do so, will provide independent advocacy services to support them. Local advisory councils will do everything they can to ensure that patients can represent themselves, which will include ensuring that advocacy services are available for all those who require them.

I want boards to involve the public directly, either individually through patient groups and interest groups or through the public partnership forums that will be set up to inform the provision of health services in the community. Health boards must think laterally; they must consider how to work with others and how to establish constant engagement with the people whom they serve. Where health boards fail to involve the public appropriately, local advisory councils will take action to ensure that the patient's voice is heard, understood and acted on. It is important that health boards hear the views of patients at first hand and that the local advisory councils' functions support that.

In response to Sandra White's point about section 44 of the Criminal Law (Consolidation) (Scotland) Act 1995, I must point out that that particular section applies to a person who "knowingly or willingly" gives false information in a statutory declaration. It does not stipulate that there should be criminal sanctions for a breach of a statutory duty. As a result, I can tell the chamber that we have no intention of criminalising health boards.

Several members, including Shona Robison and Kate Maclean, referred to the powers of intervention in the bill and said that the bill should include examples of when the power would be used. It would be extremely difficult to try to set out in legislation all the instances when ministers could intervene. Indeed, there would be a serious risk that we would miss a particular instance, which might have serious consequences. I stress that intervention is a last resort. It would be preceded by an escalating intervention protocol, which would seek resolution long before intervention became an option. Of course, at the same time, I stress that we see the power of intervention as a necessary part of our good governance strategy.

Several members mentioned community health partnerships. Much of the detail on community health partnerships will be contained in the guidance and regulations, on which we will be consulting shortly. That will ensure that responsibility is devolved and that front-line staff are able to take decisions on the best way to deliver care to patients and carers in their local communities.

Local authorities will have a strong role in community health partnerships; where services are provided in partnership as part of the joint future agenda, local authorities will have an equal say on how those services are to be provided. Local authorities and health boards need to have the courage to delegate management and financial responsibility for functions to CHPs. Producing better results through CHPs will require all partners to take the initiative and to share some risks in the search for solutions to problems. After all, all of us-politicians and professionals alikecame into public life to make things better, not to defend internal structures. The challenge is to be courageous enough to share power in the greater interest of those whom we serve.

Several members, including Shona Robison, David Davidson, Kate Maclean and Carolyn Leckie, mentioned the costs of the bill.

Carolyn Leckie: Will the minister take an intervention?

Mr McCabe: Sure.

Carolyn Leckie: Thank you very much—there's a wee surprise. On costs, three of the commitments in the staff governance standard are that all staff will be

"appropriately trained ... treated fairly and consistently"

and

"provided with an improved and safe working environment".

If that will not require additional resources, is the minister prepared to say that all that is being delivered within the current resource?

Mr McCabe: I will give my comments on the cost of the bill during the next few minutes.

Members have suggested that the bill is not cost neutral and that many things, including those mentioned by Carolyn Leckie, cannot be done. Let me give some examples. We have seen the dissolution of two trusts already. The evidence that we have from the two health boards that dissolved their trusts at the beginning of last year—NHS Borders and NHS Dumfries and Galloway—is that savings have been made. However, moving to single-system working is not about cutting costs. It is about improving health care for patients through greater co-operation and collaboration.

Shona Robison: Will the member take an intervention?

Mr McCabe: If savings can be made, I expect them to be reinvested in front-line services. [*Interruption.*] Presiding Officer, I have some difficulty in hearing requests for information.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I think that the minister is giving way to Shona Robison. I ask members to calm down the level of conversation, so that we can all hear what is going on.

Shona Robison: We all hope that savings will be made and that the money will be reinvested in services, but is it not the case that it will take some time for that money to come through? The up-front costs of establishing community health partnerships and the Scottish health council, and of ensuring public involvement, will be immediate. Where will those funds come from?

Mr McCabe: Of course, health boards have considerable funds available to them. The funds that have been made available to them have increased greatly year on year. It is not the case that there will be immediate poverty in boards and we think that the changes will generate savings. I cited some examples where trusts have already been dissolved and we think that savings have been generated. There is no reason to suggest that the same savings cannot be generated throughout Scotland.

Phil Gallie: Will the minister give way on that point?

Mr McCabe: No, I will not. I need to get on.

Creating CHPs is about redesigning existing resources to ensure more effective use of them. NHS boards are able to manage that change and many of them have already done a lot of work in anticipation of the change. Reorganisation will not—I repeat, not—be done at the expense of funding for front-line services.

The Executive has always recognised that the exact costs of intervention will depend on the size and the nature of the intervention; the figure in the financial memorandum is, of course, indicative. However, it is important to remember that, as well as improving services, any intervention is likely to save money in the long run, as it will prevent money from being wasted on ineffective services and poor planning.

Again, some members have commented that additional funding will be required to increase public involvement. We accept that if boards are to put much more effort into information. communication and involvement, that will have a cost. However, that is integral to providing a patient-focused service and will lead to more effective expenditure on health services generally. Of course, it is an evolving situation. As we embrace meaningful engagement with our communities, we will always be open to

discussions about what the costs and benefits are. We also expect boards to work with other partners locally, through the CHPs and the community planning structures, so that we have a joined-up approach to delivering local services and to sharing the costs of community involvement.

Members have also asked how the new duty of health improvement is to be funded. The important point to make in that regard is that it is not about creating new costs but about making it easier for boards and ministers to spend existing money more effectively on promoting health improvement. We already expend large sums of money in the promotion of health improvement. Examples of that include the extra resources of £173 million announced in "Building a Better Scotland", and that is on top of the £134 million already being spent between 2003 and 2006. Malcolm Chisholm recently announced pilot areas to study unmet need. We are clearly looking forward to seeing the outcomes of that study and to being guided in our future expenditure decisions by those pilots.

It is simply not possible in the time available to address all the points that have been raised. At stage 2, there will obviously be a further opportunity for more detailed scrutiny of the bill and we look forward to working with the committee, and indeed the entire Parliament, on refining the bill. However, I believe that there is broad agreement, both inside and outside the chamber, that the general principles of the bill are sound, and I hope that members will support the bill. Our view of Shona Robison's amendment is that it is unnecessary, so I urge members to reject it.

National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill: Financial Resolution

The Presiding Officer (Mr George Reid): The next item of business is consideration of a financial resolution. I ask Malcolm Chisholm to move motion S2M-227, on the financial resolution in respect of the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill.

Motion moved,

That the Parliament, for the purposes of any Act of the Scottish Parliament resulting from the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill, agrees to any increase in expenditure of the Scottish Ministers payable out of the Scottish Consolidated Fund in consequence of the Act.— [*Malcolm Chisholm.*]

17:02

Shona Robison (Dundee East) (SNP): The SNP will have to oppose the financial resolution, given that ministers have not taken the opportunity to agree to revisit the issue. The reasons for our opposition were given in my speech. There is no funding for the establishment of community health partnerships, despite the reservations expressed by the NHS Confederation in Scotland and by others. No money will be received to ensure that public involvement is done properly. The costs of the powers of intervention will be pushed on to health boards, and there will be no resources to ensure that the Scottish health council is established.

It is not just the SNP and other members, including some on the Executive's own benches, who are raising concerns about the costs of the bill. Influential and important organisations such as the NHS Confederation in Scotland, which represents managers in the health service, are also concerned. It is just not good enough to say that costs can be met from within savings, because those savings will not be seen immediately and yet there are immediate costs from the bill.

The Deputy Minister for Health and Community Care said—and I hope that I am quoting him accurately—that there will be no immediate poverty in health boards. He should tell that to the health boards and to the patients who see cuts to local services across Scotland, and to the MSPs who sit at health board meetings listening to the financial savings that are having to be made and implemented over the next few years because resources are being stretched to meet the new responsibilities, particularly those of junior doctors' working hours and the rise in drugs budgets. All the resources are being stretched to meet those new responsibilities, so any new responsibility that the Executive puts on to health boards that is not fully funded will, yet again, put further pressure on budgets so that those resources will have to be met from patient services. That is not good enough. Legislation that is made in the Parliament should receive funding to ensure that it can be implemented without the funding having to come out of money in the health budget that is designated for other services.

I urge members to follow their consciences, to listen to members such as Kate Maclean and to support our amendment to the motion on the bill. I ask the Executive to go away and think again about the financial resolution.

17:05

Mr David Davidson (North East Scotland) (Con): The Conservatives are against the financial memorandum because the Minister for Health and Community Care said clearly at the beginning of the debate on the bill that he expected any cost to be met out of the increased funding that is already in the system. In the financial memorandum, the minister did not identify, as he should have done, what the costs are likely to be and who will bear them. The principle that has operated in this Parliament over the past five years has been that every financial memorandum should have clarity and be robust. This financial memorandum is neither clear nor robust; I will not go through the litany of problems.

There is a marginal administrative saving over the first two years, which could average as much as £1 million per health board, but that is a drop in the ocean compared to the up-front costs that will be suffered by health boards throughout Scotland if the financial memorandum goes through.

17:06

The Minister for Health and Community Care (Malcolm Chisholm): I am not surprised that, once again, the only substantive contribution that the SNP can make to a health debate is to call for more resources. That is the SNP's answer to all the issues in the health service.

In response to the Conservatives, I point out that we acknowledged in the financial memorandum that there would be some additional costs. However, we also said that there would be some savings. We need a financial resolution in the Parliament to cover the former but, as Tom McCabe said in his winding-up speech, there have already been savings in NHS Borders and NHS Dumfries and Galloway, where trusts were abolished earlier than elsewhere. There have been savings of £500,000 in one year in NHS Dumfries and Galloway and the same kind of amount has been saved in NHS Borders, although over a slightly longer period. It is a case of there being some costs and some savings.

The key issue is the more effective use of existing resources: the £173 million extra that is already going into health improvement; the sum of more than £2 million that already supports the health council movement; and the £1 million that is supporting managed clinical networks, which will help to improve regional planning.

Shona Robison started by talking about community health partnerships. One of the key issues in respect of CHPs is the delegation of existing resources to the front line; it is about using the resources that are in the system. Management costs are also in the system already in the local health care co-operatives and in the primary care trusts; it is a matter of using the resources more effectively.

Let us not forget that although there are, of course, pressures in the health system, we have record resources in health. Those can be used more effectively and that is what the bill is all about.

Business Motions

17:07

The Presiding Officer (Mr George Reid): The next item of business is consideration of two business motions. Motion S2M-983, in the name of Patricia Ferguson, on behalf of the Parliamentary Bureau, sets out a business programme.

Motion moved,

That the Parliament agrees the following programme of $\ensuremath{\mathsf{business}}\xspace$

Wednesday 10 March 2004

•		
2.30 pm	Time for Reflection	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
followed by	Stage 1 Debate on the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Bill	
followed by	Financial Resolution in respect of the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Bill	
followed by	Business Motion	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
5.00 pm	Decision Time	
followed by	Members' Business – Debate on the subject of S2M-913 Dr Sylvia Jackson: Commonwealth Day 2004	
Thursday 11 March 2004		
9.30 am	Scottish Senior Citizens' Unity Party Business	
followed by	Scottish Socialist Party Business	
12 noon	First Minister's Question Time	
2.00 pm	Question Time – Enterprise, Lifelong Learning and Transport;	
	Justice and Law Officers;	
	General Questions	
3.00 pm	Executive Debate on the Historic Environment, a Valuable Resource for Scotland	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
5.00 pm	Decision Time	
followed by	Members' Business – Debate on the subject of S2M-746 Rob Gibson: Maternity Services in Caithness	
Wednesday 17 March 2004		
2.30 pm	Time for Reflection	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
followed by	Debate on Enterprise and Culture Committee's 3rd Report, 2003 (Session 2) Scottish Solutions Inquiry	
followedby	Dusiness Motion	

Business Motion

followed by

followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
5.00 pm	Decision Time	
followed by	Members' Business	
Thursday 18 March 2004		
9.30 am	Scottish National Party Business	
12 noon	First Minister's Question Time	
2.00 pm	Question Time –	
	Education and Young People, Tourism, Culture and Sport;	
	Finance and Public Services and Communities;	
	General Questions	
3.00 pm	Executive Business	
followed by	Business Motion	
followed by	Parliamentary Bureau Motions	
5.00 pm	Decision Time	
followed by	Members' Business-[Tavish Scott.]	
Motion agreed to.		

The Presiding Officer: Motion S2M-989, in the name of Patricia Ferguson, on behalf of the Parliamentary Bureau, sets out a revised programme of business for Thursday 4 March 2004.

Motion moved,

That the Parliament agrees the following revision to the programme of business for Thursday 4 March 2004—

Thursday 4 March	2004
delete,	
9.30 am	Stage 3 of the Vulnerable Witnesses (Scotland) Bill
and insert,	

9.30 am	Parliamentary Bureau Motions
followed by	Stage 3 of the Vulnerable Witnesses (Scotland) Bill—[<i>Tavish Scott.</i>]

Motion agreed to.

Parliamentary Bureau Motions

17:09

The Presiding Officer (Mr George Reid): The next item of business is consideration of two Parliamentary Bureau motions, motion S2M-986, on the office of the clerk, and motion S2M-987, on rule 2.3.1 of standing orders.

Motions moved,

That the Parliament agrees that between 3 July 2004 and 7 January 2005 the office of the Clerk shall be open all days except: Saturdays and Sundays, 3 December 2004, 24 December 2004 (pm), 27 and 28 December 2004 and 3 and 4 January 2005.

That the Parliament agrees the following dates under Rule 2.3.1: 5 July – 3 September 2004 (inclusive), 11 – 22 October 2004 (inclusive), 27 December 2004 – 7 January 2005 (inclusive).—[Tavish Scott.]

17:09

Dennis Canavan (Falkirk West) (Ind): I wish to speak against motion S2M-987—I will be very brief, but we are entitled to an explanation of why the motion has been lodged by the Parliamentary Bureau. Rule 2.3.1 of our standing orders states:

"In considering dates of any Parliamentary recess, the Parliamentary Bureau shall have regard to the dates when schools in any part of Scotland are to be on holiday."

I do not know of any schools in Scotlandcertainly not local authority schools-that are on holiday in September and I understand that most schools are on holiday from 26 June. I presume that some members who have children of school age will have already made arrangements for family holidays. I suspect that the motion has more to do with a further delay in the Holyrood building fiasco. Where is all this going to end? If there is any further delay, will the Parliamentary Bureau lodge a motion that proposes that Christmas be made a moveable feast? The convenience of children's holidays should take priority over the convenience of a parliamentary flitting. That is why I am minded to vote against the motion unless the minister or the deputy minister can persuade me to do otherwise.

17:11

The Deputy Minister for Parliamentary Business (Tavish Scott): I have a good deal of sympathy with Mr Canavan's point about school term times—as would any of us who have children and the responsibility of sorting out their holidays.

I am happy to inform Dennis Canavan that the revised dates for the summer recess are indeed designed to accommodate the migration to the new Holyrood site over the summer. The suggestion has been considered by the bureau over the past two weeks; this week, it was agreed that the bureau would seek Parliament's consent to change the previously agreed dates. We acknowledge the difficulties that the change in dates may cause some members, but we were persuaded that a critical period for the migration would come towards the end of the summer.

I stress that no additional time is proposed for what might be construed as holidays. The motion will simply move the previously agreed dates back by one week. It might be worth mentioning that the date in the motion for the beginning of the summer recess takes account of school holidays throughout Scotland—including even Shetland.

The Presiding Officer: The question on the motion will be put at decision time.

Decision Time

17:12

The Presiding Officer (Mr George Reid): There are five questions to be put as a result of today's business. The first question is, that amendment S2M-215.1, in the name of Shona Robison, which seeks to amend motion S2M-215, in the name of Malcolm Chisholm, on the general principles of the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Adam, Brian (Aberdeen North) (SNP) Alexander, Ms Wendy (Paisley North) (Lab) Baird, Shiona (North East Scotland) (Green) Ballance, Chris (South of Scotland) (Green) Ballard, Mark (Lothians) (Green) Byrne, Ms Rosemary (South of Scotland) (SSP) Canavan, Dennis (Falkirk West) (Ind) Crawford, Bruce (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perth) (SNP) Curran, Frances (West of Scotland) (SSP) Ewing, Mrs Margaret (Moray) (SNP) Fox, Colin (Lothians) (SSP) Gibson, Rob (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (South of Scotland) (SNP) Harper, Robin (Lothians) (Green) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Ingram, Mr Adam (South of Scotland) (SNP) Kane, Rosie (Glasgow) (SSP) Leckie, Carolyn (Central Scotland) (SSP) Lochhead, Richard (North East Scotland) (SNP) MacAskill, Mr Kenny (Lothians) (SNP) Macmillan, Maureen (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Martin, Campbell (West of Scotland) (SNP) Marwick, Tricia (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Mather, Jim (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Central Scotland) (SNP) Maxwell, Mr Stewart (West of Scotland) (SNP) McFee, Mr Bruce (West of Scotland) (SNP) Morgan, Alasdair (South of Scotland) (SNP) Oldfather, Irene (Cunninghame South) (Lab) Robison, Shona (Dundee East) (SNP) Ruskell, Mr Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green) Scott, Eleanor (Highlands and Islands) (Green) Stevenson, Stewart (Banff and Buchan) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow) (SNP) Swinney, Mr John (North Tayside) (SNP) Turner, Dr Jean (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (Ind) Welsh, Mr Andrew (Angus) (SNP) White, Ms Sandra (Glasgow) (SNP)

AGAINST

Aitken, Bill (Glasgow) (Con) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Richard (North East Scotland) (Lab) Barrie, Scott (Dunfermline West) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Edinburgh Central) (Lab) Brankin, Rhona (Midlothian) (Lab) Brocklebank, Mr Ted (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Brown, Robert (Glasgow) (LD) Butler, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (Lab) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh North and Leith) (Lab) Craigie, Cathie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (Lab) Davidson, Mr David (North East Scotland) (Con) Deacon, Susan (Edinburgh East and Musselburgh) (Lab) Douglas-Hamilton, Lord James (Lothians) (Con) Eadie, Helen (Dunfermline East) (Lab) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill) (Lab) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and Upper Nithsdale) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Gallie, Phil (South of Scotland) (Con) Gillon, Karen (Clydesdale) (Lab) Glen, Marlyn (North East Scotland) (Lab) Godman, Trish (West Renfrewshire) (Lab) Gorrie, Donald (Central Scotland) (LD) Henry, Hugh (Paisley South) (Lab) Home Robertson, Mr John (East Lothian) (Lab) Hughes, Janis (Glasgow Rutherglen) (Lab) Jackson, Dr Sylvia (Stirling) (Lab) Jackson, Gordon (Glasgow Govan) (Lab) Jamieson, Cathy (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (Lab) Jamieson, Margaret (Kilmarnock and Loudoun) (Lab) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) Kerr, Mr Andy (East Kilbride) (Lab) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Livingstone, Marilyn (Kirkcaldy) (Lab) Lyon, George (Argyll and Bute) (LD) Macdonald, Lewis (Aberdeen Central) (Lab) Macintosh, Mr Kenneth (Eastwood) (Lab) Maclean, Kate (Dundee West) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Springburn) (Lab) McAveety, Mr Frank (Glasgow Shettleston) (Lab) McCabe, Mr Tom (Hamilton South) (Lab) McConnell, Mr Jack (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) McGrigor, Mr Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McLetchie, David (Edinburgh Pentlands) (Con) McMahon, Michael (Hamilton North and Bellshill) (Lab) McNeil, Mr Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow Kelvin) (Lab) McNulty, Des (Clydebank and Milngavie) (Lab) Milne, Mrs Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Monteith, Mr Brian (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Morrison, Mr Alasdair (Western Isles) (Lab) Muldoon, Bristow (Livingston) (Lab) Mulligan, Mrs Mary (Linlithgow) (Lab) Mundell, David (South of Scotland) (Con) Munro, John Farquhar (Ross, Skye and Inverness West) (LD)Murray, Dr Elaine (Dumfries) (Lab) Peacock, Peter (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Peattie, Cathy (Falkirk East) (Lab) Pringle, Mike (Edinburgh South) (LD) Purvis, Jeremy (Tweeddale, Ettrick and Lauderdale) (LD) Radcliffe, Nora (Gordon) (LD) Raffan, Mr Keith (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Robson, Euan (Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (LD) Rumbles, Mike (West Aberdeenshire and Kincardine) (LD) Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Scott, Tavish (Shetland) (LD) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Smith, Iain (North East Fife) (LD) Smith, Margaret (Edinburgh West) (LD) Stephen, Nicol (Aberdeen South) (LD) Tosh, Murray (West of Scotland) (Con) Wallace, Mr Jim (Orkney) (LD) Watson, Mike (Glasgow Cathcart) (Lab) Whitefield, Karen (Airdrie and Shotts) (Lab) Wilson, Allan (Cunninghame North) (Lab)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 39, Against 77, Abstentions 0.

Amendment disagreed to.

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Adam, Brian (Aberdeen North) (SNP) Alexander, Ms Wendy (Paisley North) (Lab) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baird, Shiona (North East Scotland) (Green) Baker, Richard (North East Scotland) (Lab) Ballance, Chris (South of Scotland) (Green) Ballard, Mark (Lothians) (Green) Barrie, Scott (Dunfermline West) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Edinburgh Central) (Lab) Brankin, Rhona (Midlothian) (Lab) Brown, Robert (Glasgow) (LD) Butler, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (Lab) Canavan, Dennis (Falkirk West) (Ind) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh North and Leith) (Lab) Craigie, Cathie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (Lab) Crawford, Bruce (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perth) (SNP) Deacon, Susan (Edinburgh East and Musselburgh) (Lab) Eadie, Helen (Dunfermline East) (Lab) Ewing, Mrs Margaret (Moray) (SNP) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill) (Lab) Gibson, Rob (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Gillon, Karen (Clydesdale) (Lab) Glen, Marlyn (North East Scotland) (Lab) Godman, Trish (West Renfrewshire) (Lab) Gorrie, Donald (Central Scotland) (LD) Grahame, Christine (South of Scotland) (SNP) Harper, Robin (Lothians) (Green) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Henry, Hugh (Paisley South) (Lab) Home Robertson, Mr John (East Lothian) (Lab) Hughes, Janis (Glasgow Rutherglen) (Lab) Ingram, Mr Adam (South of Scotland) (SNP) Jackson, Dr Sylvia (Stirling) (Lab) Jackson, Gordon (Glasgow Govan) (Lab) Jamieson, Cathy (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (Lab) Jamieson, Margaret (Kilmarnock and Loudoun) (Lab) Kerr, Mr Andy (East Kilbride) (Lab) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Livingstone, Marilyn (Kirkcaldy) (Lab) Lochhead, Richard (North East Scotland) (SNP) Lyon, George (Argyll and Bute) (LD) MacAskill, Mr Kenny (Lothians) (SNP) Macdonald, Lewis (Aberdeen Central) (Lab) Macintosh, Mr Kenneth (Eastwood) (Lab) Maclean, Kate (Dundee West) (Lab) Macmillan, Maureen (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Martin, Campbell (West of Scotland) (SNP) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Springburn) (Lab) Marwick, Tricia (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Mather, Jim (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Central Scotland) (SNP) Maxwell, Mr Stewart (West of Scotland) (SNP) McAveety, Mr Frank (Glasgow Shettleston) (Lab) McCabe, Mr Tom (Hamilton South) (Lab) McConnell, Mr Jack (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) McFee, Mr Bruce (West of Scotland) (SNP) McMahon, Michael (Hamilton North and Bellshill) (Lab) McNeil, Mr Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow Kelvin) (Lab)

McNulty, Des (Clydebank and Milngavie) (Lab) Morgan, Alasdair (South of Scotland) (SNP) Morrison, Mr Alasdair (Western Isles) (Lab) Muldoon, Bristow (Livingston) (Lab) Mulligan, Mrs Mary (Linlithgow) (Lab) Munro, John Farguhar (Ross, Skye and Inverness West) (LD) Murray, Dr Elaine (Dumfries) (Lab) Oldfather, Irene (Cunninghame South) (Lab) Peacock, Peter (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Peattie, Cathy (Falkirk East) (Lab) Pringle, Mike (Edinburgh South) (LD) Purvis, Jeremy (Tweeddale, Ettrick and Lauderdale) (LD) Radcliffe, Nora (Gordon) (LD) Raffan, Mr Keith (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Robison, Shona (Dundee East) (SNP) Robson, Euan (Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (LD) Rumbles, Mike (West Aberdeenshire and Kincardine) (LD) Ruskell, Mr Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green) Scott, Eleanor (Highlands and Islands) (Green) Scott, Tavish (Shetland) (LD) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Smith, Iain (North East Fife) (LD) Smith, Margaret (Edinburgh West) (LD) Stephen, Nicol (Aberdeen South) (LD) Stevenson, Stewart (Banff and Buchan) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow) (SNP) Swinney, Mr John (North Tayside) (SNP) Turner, Dr Jean (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (Ind) Wallace, Mr Jim (Orkney) (LD) Watson, Mike (Glasgow Cathcart) (Lab) Welsh, Mr Andrew (Angus) (SNP) White, Ms Sandra (Glasgow) (SNP) Whitefield, Karen (Airdrie and Shotts) (Lab) Wilson, Allan (Cunninghame North) (Lab)

AGAINST

Aitken, Bill (Glasgow) (Con) Brocklebank, Mr Ted (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Davidson, Mr David (North East Scotland) (Con) Douglas-Hamilton, Lord James (Lothians) (Con) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and Upper Nithsdale) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Gallie, Phil (South of Scotland) (Con) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) McGrigor, Mr Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McLetchie, David (Edinburgh Pentlands) (Con) Milne, Mrs Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Monteith, Mr Brian (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Mundell, David (South of Scotland) (Con) Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Tosh, Murray (West of Scotland) (Con)

ABSTENTIONS

Byrne, Ms Rosemary (South of Scotland) (SSP) Curran, Frances (West of Scotland) (SSP) Fox, Colin (Lothians) (SSP) Kane, Rosie (Glasgow) (SSP) Leckie, Carolyn (Central Scotland) (SSP)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 94, Against 17, Abstentions 5.

Motion agreed to.

That the Parliament agrees to the general principles of the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill.

The Presiding Officer: The third question is, that motion S2M-227, in the name of Andy Kerr, on the financial resolution in respect of the

National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Alexander, Ms Wendy (Paisley North) (Lab) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baird, Shiona (North East Scotland) (Green) Baker, Richard (North East Scotland) (Lab) Ballance, Chris (South of Scotland) (Green) Ballard, Mark (Lothians) (Green) Barrie, Scott (Dunfermline West) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Edinburgh Central) (Lab) Brankin, Rhona (Midlothian) (Lab) Brown, Robert (Glasgow) (LD) Butler, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (Lab) Canavan, Dennis (Falkirk West) (Ind) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh North and Leith) (Lab) Craigie, Cathie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (Lab) Curran, Ms Margaret (Glasgow Baillieston) (Lab) Deacon, Susan (Edinburgh East and Musselburgh) (Lab) Eadie, Helen (Dunfermline East) (Lab) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill) (Lab) Gillon, Karen (Clydesdale) (Lab) Glen, Marlyn (North East Scotland) (Lab) Godman, Trish (West Renfrewshire) (Lab) Gorrie, Donald (Central Scotland) (LD) Harper, Robin (Lothians) (Green) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Henry, Hugh (Paisley South) (Lab) Home Robertson, Mr John (East Lothian) (Lab) Hughes, Janis (Glasgow Rutherglen) (Lab) Jackson, Dr Sylvia (Stirling) (Lab) Jackson, Gordon (Glasgow Govan) (Lab) Jamieson, Cathy (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (Lab) Jamieson, Margaret (Kilmarnock and Loudoun) (Lab) Kerr, Mr Andy (East Kilbride) (Lab) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Livingstone, Marilyn (Kirkcaldy) (Lab) Lyon, George (Argyll and Bute) (LD) Macdonald, Lewis (Aberdeen Central) (Lab) Macintosh, Mr Kenneth (Eastwood) (Lab) Maclean, Kate (Dundee West) (Lab) Macmillan, Maureen (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Springburn) (Lab) McAveety, Mr Frank (Glasgow Shettleston) (Lab) McCabe, Mr Tom (Hamilton South) (Lab) McConnell, Mr Jack (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) McMahon, Michael (Hamilton North and Bellshill) (Lab) McNeil, Mr Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow Kelvin) (Lab) McNulty, Des (Clydebank and Milngavie) (Lab) Morrison, Mr Alasdair (Western Isles) (Lab) Muldoon, Bristow (Livingston) (Lab) Mulligan, Mrs Mary (Linlithgow) (Lab) Munro, John Farquhar (Ross, Skye and Inverness West) (ID)Murray, Dr Elaine (Dumfries) (Lab) Oldfather, Irene (Cunninghame South) (Lab) Peacock, Peter (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Peattie, Cathy (Falkirk East) (Lab) Pringle, Mike (Edinburgh South) (LD) Purvis, Jeremy (Tweeddale, Ettrick and Lauderdale) (LD) Radcliffe, Nora (Gordon) (LD) Raffan, Mr Keith (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Robson, Euan (Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (LD) Rumbles, Mike (West Aberdeenshire and Kincardine) (LD) Ruskell, Mr Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green)

Scott, Eleanor (Highlands and Islands) (Green) Scott, Tavish (Shetland) (LD) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Smith, Iain (North East Fife) (LD) Smith, Margaret (Edinburgh West) (LD) Stephen, Nicol (Aberdeen South) (LD) Turner, Dr Jean (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (Ind) Wallace, Mr Jim (Orkney) (LD) Watson, Mike (Glasgow Cathcart) (Lab) Whitefield, Karen (Airdrie and Shotts) (Lab) Wilson, Allan (Cunninghame North) (Lab)

AGAINST

Adam, Brian (Aberdeen North) (SNP) Aitken, Bill (Glasgow) (Con) Brocklebank, Mr Ted (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Byrne, Ms Rosemary (South of Scotland) (SSP) Crawford, Bruce (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perth) (SNP) Curran, Frances (West of Scotland) (SSP) Davidson, Mr David (North East Scotland) (Con) Douglas-Hamilton, Lord James (Lothians) (Con) Ewing, Mrs Margaret (Moray) (SNP) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and Upper Nithsdale) (Con) Fox, Colin (Lothians) (SSP) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Gallie, Phil (South of Scotland) (Con) Gibson, Rob (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (South of Scotland) (SNP) Ingram, Mr Adam (South of Scotland) (SNP) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) Kane, Rosie (Glasgow) (SSP) Leckie, Carolyn (Central Scotland) (SSP) Lochhead, Richard (North East Scotland) (SNP) MacAskill, Mr Kenny (Lothians) (SNP) Martin, Campbell (West of Scotland) (SNP) Marwick, Tricia (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Mather, Jim (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Central Scotland) (SNP) Maxwell, Mr Stewart (West of Scotland) (SNP) McFee, Mr Bruce (West of Scotland) (SNP) McGrigor, Mr Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McLetchie, David (Edinburgh Pentlands) (Con) Milne, Mrs Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Monteith, Mr Brian (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Morgan, Alasdair (South of Scotland) (SNP) Mundell, David (South of Scotland) (Con) Robison, Shona (Dundee East) (SNP) Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Stevenson, Stewart (Banff and Buchan) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow) (SNP) Swinney, Mr John (North Tayside) (SNP) Tosh, Murray (West of Scotland) (Con) Welsh, Mr Andrew (Angus) (SNP) White, Ms Sandra (Glasgow) (SNP)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 73, Against 44, Abstentions 0.

Motion agreed to.

That the Parliament, for the purposes of any Act of the Scottish Parliament resulting from the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Bill, agrees to any increase in expenditure of the Scottish Ministers payable out of the Scottish Consolidated Fund in consequence of the Act.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S2M-986, in the name of Patricia Ferguson, on the office of the clerk, be agreed to.

Motion agreed to.

That the Parliament agrees that between 3 July 2004 and 7 January 2005 the office of the Clerk shall be open all days except: Saturdays and Sundays, 3 December 2004, 24 December 2004 (pm), 27 and 28 December 2004 and 3 and 4 January 2005.

The Presiding Officer: The fifth and final question is, that motion S2M-987, in the name of Patricia Ferguson, on rule 2.3.1 of standing orders, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Adam, Brian (Aberdeen North) (SNP) Aitken, Bill (Glasgow) (Con) Alexander, Ms Wendy (Paisley North) (Lab) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baird, Shiona (North East Scotland) (Green) Baker, Richard (North East Scotland) (Lab) Ballance, Chris (South of Scotland) (Green) Ballard, Mark (Lothians) (Green) Barrie, Scott (Dunfermline West) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Edinburgh Central) (Lab) Brankin, Rhona (Midlothian) (Lab) Brocklebank, Mr Ted (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Brown, Robert (Glasgow) (LD) Butler, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (Lab) Byrne, Ms Rosemary (South of Scotland) (SSP) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh North and Leith) (Lab) Craigie, Cathie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (Lab) Crawford, Bruce (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perth) (SNP) Curran, Frances (West of Scotland) (SSP) Curran, Ms Margaret (Glasgow Baillieston) (Lab) Davidson, Mr David (North East Scotland) (Con) Deacon, Susan (Edinburgh East and Musselburgh) (Lab) Douglas-Hamilton, Lord James (Lothians) (Con) Eadie, Helen (Dunfermline East) (Lab) Ewing, Mrs Margaret (Moray) (SNP) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill) (Lab) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and Upper Nithsdale) (Con) Fox, Colin (Lothians) (SSP) Gallie, Phil (South of Scotland) (Con) Gibson, Rob (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Gillon, Karen (Clydesdale) (Lab) Glen, Marlyn (North East Scotland) (Lab) Godman, Trish (West Renfrewshire) (Lab) Grahame, Christine (South of Scotland) (SNP) Harper, Robin (Lothians) (Green) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Henry, Hugh (Paisley South) (Lab) Home Robertson, Mr John (East Lothian) (Lab) Hughes, Janis (Glasgow Rutherglen) (Lab) Ingram, Mr Adam (South of Scotland) (SNP) Jackson, Dr Sylvia (Stirling) (Lab) Jackson, Gordon (Glasgow Govan) (Lab) Jamieson, Cathy (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (Lab) Jamieson, Margaret (Kilmarnock and Loudoun) (Lab) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) Kane, Rosie (Glasgow) (SSP) Kerr, Mr Andy (East Kilbride) (Lab) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Leckie, Carolyn (Central Scotland) (SSP) Livingstone, Marilyn (Kirkcaldy) (Lab) Lochhead, Richard (North East Scotland) (SNP) Lyon, George (Argyll and Bute) (LD)

MacAskill, Mr Kenny (Lothians) (SNP) Macdonald, Lewis (Aberdeen Central) (Lab) Macintosh, Mr Kenneth (Eastwood) (Lab) Maclean, Kate (Dundee West) (Lab) Macmillan, Maureen (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Martin, Campbell (West of Scotland) (SNP) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Springburn) (Lab) Marwick, Tricia (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Mather, Jim (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Central Scotland) (SNP) Maxwell, Mr Stewart (West of Scotland) (SNP) McAveety, Mr Frank (Glasgow Shettleston) (Lab) McCabe, Mr Tom (Hamilton South) (Lab) McConnell, Mr Jack (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) McFee, Mr Bruce (West of Scotland) (SNP) McGrigor, Mr Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McLetchie, David (Edinburgh Pentlands) (Con) McMahon, Michael (Hamilton North and Bellshill) (Lab) McNeil, Mr Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow Kelvin) (Lab) McNulty, Des (Clydebank and Milngavie) (Lab) Milne, Mrs Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Morgan, Alasdair (South of Scotland) (SNP) Morrison, Mr Alasdair (Western Isles) (Lab) Muldoon, Bristow (Livingston) (Lab) Mulligan, Mrs Mary (Linlithgow) (Lab) Munro, John Farquhar (Ross, Skye and Inverness West) (LD)Murray, Dr Elaine (Dumfries) (Lab) Oldfather, Irene (Cunninghame South) (Lab) Peacock, Peter (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Peattie, Cathy (Falkirk East) (Lab) Pringle, Mike (Edinburgh South) (LD) Purvis, Jeremy (Tweeddale, Ettrick and Lauderdale) (LD) Radcliffe, Nora (Gordon) (LD) Raffan, Mr Keith (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Robison, Shona (Dundee East) (SNP) Robson, Euan (Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (LD) Rumbles, Mike (West Aberdeenshire and Kincardine) (LD) Ruskell, Mr Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green) Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Scott, Eleanor (Highlands and Islands) (Green) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Scott, Tavish (Shetland) (LD) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Smith, Iain (North East Fife) (LD) Smith, Margaret (Edinburgh West) (LD) Stephen, Nicol (Aberdeen South) (LD) Stevenson, Stewart (Banff and Buchan) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow) (SNP) Swinney, Mr John (North Tayside) (SNP) Tosh, Murray (West of Scotland) (Con) Turner, Dr Jean (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (Ind) Wallace, Mr Jim (Orkney) (LD) Watson, Mike (Glasgow Cathcart) (Lab) Welsh, Mr Andrew (Angus) (SNP) White, Ms Sandra (Glasgow) (SNP) Whitefield, Karen (Airdrie and Shotts) (Lab) Wilson, Allan (Cunninghame North) (Lab)

AGAINST

Canavan, Dennis (Falkirk West) (Ind) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Monteith, Mr Brian (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Mundell, David (South of Scotland) (Con)

ABSTENTIONS

Gorrie, Donald (Central Scotland) (LD)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 112, Against 4, Abstentions 1.

Motion agreed to.

That the Parliament agrees the following dates under Rule 2.3.1: 5 July – 3 September 2004 (inclusive), 11 - 22 October 2004 (inclusive), 27 December 2004 – 7 January 2005 (inclusive).

Point of Order

17:17

The Deputy Minister for Environment and Rural Development (Allan Wilson): On a point of order, Presiding Officer. I understand that you were asked earlier to rule on a point of order that alleged that I had misled a parliamentary committee on the legislative competence of an amendment that Mr Canavan had lodged to the Nature Conservation (Scotland) Bill. In fact, no one questioned the legislative competence of the amendment concerned, least of all me, because I propose to give effect to the proposal at stage 3. However, the amendment potentially called into question the legislative competence of other consequential provisions in the bill. The Executive and, subsequently, the committee agreed that those provisions might better be considered at stage 3.

I raise the point of order so that you might clarify to Parliament the grounds for admissibility of an amendment and where legislative competence lies before you consider prospective amendments at stage 3.

The Presiding Officer (Mr George Reid): That is a fairly hard point of order to deal with at 17:18. At this point, I can say that Mr Canavan was kind enough to share his point of order with me in advance. His point of order was given fairly serious consideration by the clerks prior to my ruling. Legislative competence, admissibility and consequent provisions are a tricky area. I would like to reflect on the matter overnight so that I can give a more considered view tomorrow, if that would be acceptable.

Dennis Canavan (Falkirk West) (Ind): Further to your ruling, earlier this afternoon you indicated that I would have the opportunity of returning to the matter in question at stage 3. I am quite happy with that, provided that I get the opportunity to lodge a similar amendment. It is my understanding that the minister seemed to be saying that my amendment or its consequences might be outwith Parliament's legislative competence.

The Presiding Officer: Those are fine points. I reiterate what I said: you will have a second chance at stage 3, at which point I will consider admissibility. I will respond to Mr Wilson as soon as possible tomorrow.

Institute for Science Education in Scotland

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Trish Godman): The final item of business today is a members' business debate on motion S2M-870, in the name of Lord James Douglas-Hamilton, on the Institute for Science Education in Scotland. The debate will be concluded without any question being put.

Motion debated,

That the Parliament notes the widespread concerns about the future of science education in Scotland; believes the declining popularity of science subjects in schools and at further and higher education levels has consequences for economic development; welcomes the establishment of the Institute for Science Education in Scotland, a unique network of scientists working with science teachers to support excellence in science teaching throughout Scotland; notes that the aim of the institute is to work with the thousands of people in the Scottish science community who are determined to reverse the decline in the popularity of science at schools, colleges and universities; further notes the priority set by the Scottish Science Advisory Committee in its recent report, Why Science Education Matters, on development of the institute; notes that the institute has the support of all Scotland's universities, the Royal Society of Edinburgh and the General Teaching Council for Scotland; further notes the creation of a National Centre for Excellence in Science Education in England with support from the Wellcome Trust and the Department for Education and Skills, and considers that the Scottish Executive should support the development of the institute.

17:21

Lord James Douglas-Hamilton (Lothians) (Con): Science education in Scotland is vital because of the tremendous contribution that Scots have made to science. Scots are responsible for almost one quarter of all great British inventions. Was not it Watt who invented the steam engine, Alexander Graham Bell who invented the telephone, John Logie Baird who invented the television, Alexander Fleming who invented penicillin, Joseph Lister who invented antiseptic, James Simpson who invented anaesthetic, not to mention the many others who invented or helped to create such useful items as adhesive stamps, marmalade, mackintosh raincoats and even that most remarkable of mammals, Dolly the sheep?

To maintain and develop our world role in science, maximum encouragement should be given to the young people in our schools who have ability, aptitude and inclination in that direction. If we want to pass on scientific knowledge to our young people and to endorse their aspirations, it is essential that our teachers be suitably motivated, educated and supported. They must have access to high-quality resources and training opportunities.

Albert Einstein said:

"Teaching should be such that what is offered is perceived as a valuable gift and not as a hard duty."

He also said that those who know the truth have a duty to impart it and the Institute for Science Education in Scotland is trying to do exactly that through the creation of a unique network of dedicated professionals. The aims and action plans of the institute are well structured and have the valuable support of prestigious key institutions such as the General Teaching Council for Scotland, all Scotland's universities and the Royal Society of Edinburgh.

The Institute for Science Education in Scotland understands the enormous impact that science, engineering and technology have on everyday life and that science, engineering and technology education is crucial for Scotland's economic, social and democratic vitality. Currently, there is a decline in the number of students who opt to study science subjects at school, college and university, which ultimately presents a challenge to the Scottish Executive and to Scottish parliamentarians.

Through the consent of its partners, the ISES will be the means of co-ordinating the activities of the science community in supporting teachers and schools. The institute also hopes to act as a bridge between the science community and the Executive fulfillina the Executive's educational in responsibilities. In that respect, it is a resource for the Executive to use. That role was identified as being crucial in the excellent first report of the Scottish Science Advisory Committee, which is "Why Science Education Matters: entitled Supporting and Improving Science Education in Scottish Schools".

It has been agreed by the National Centre for Excellence in Science Teaching in England that the ISES should be the body through which its links to Scotland will be managed. It is hoped that the Executive and the institute will be able to discuss with the national centre and the Wellcome Trust how that relationship can be made most effective and how it can be funded. The Wellcome Trust is probably Britain's largest charity and its commitment to research is extremely longstanding and absolutely outstanding. Gratitude is due to that trust.

Scotland, we believe, cannot afford to lose out in comparison with its counterparts. The Scottish Executive's support is vital if science education is to succeed in putting Scots at the cutting edge of technology. It should seize this opportunity by building on the creation of the Institute for Science Education in Scotland, linking with the National Centre for Excellence in Science Teaching in England, and accepting the recommendations of the Scottish Science Advisory Committee's report that we should create a distinctive and imaginative Scottish solution to a vital issue for our society. We hope that the Executive will give maximum support to science education in Scotland.

It is only fair to bear in mind the fact that Concorde, whose wings were designed by a Scot—James Arnot Hamilton—will soon be visited by school parties from all over Scotland in the prestigious Museum of Flight of the National Museums of Scotland.

The role of science education should be given top priority and it should be supported by the highest in the land. We hope that the minister will do just that. Scotland deserves nothing less.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: A considerable number of members wish to speak in the debate, so I will stick to three-minute speeches.

17:26

Ms Wendy Alexander (Paisley North) (Lab): I thank Lord James Douglas-Hamilton for initiating this debate. The fact that the Presiding Officer is already limiting the length of time members have to speak indicates the degree of commitment to the issue, throughout the chamber.

Lord James started his speech by referring to some of the contributions Scots have made to science. As I was thinking about this debate, I thought about the fact that the Institute for Science Education in Scotland takes as one of its founding precepts a leaf from the Jesuit maxim, "Give me a child at seven." The whole idea is that adult scientists should work alongside science teachers to stimulate our young people's interest in science. I reflect on that as someone who specialised in physics, chemistry and biology at school.

There is some evidence that we can do better at updating the science curriculum to help it engage young people more effectively. Youngsters today have no lack of interest in using the fruits of technology, but there may be insufficient interest in understanding where that technology comes from. By focusing on the development of the curriculum, the dissemination of best practice and continuing professional development for teachers, the institute is focusing on exactly the right age group and the challenge that we face.

I have been involved in another initiative to stimulate science education in schools: it is called the generation science club, which will be familiar to many who know about this debate. It arranges visits round Scotland. Last year, I had the privilege of joining in on one of the club's activities in my constituency—I joined two primary 5 classes talking about the ecology of the rainforest. Those primary 5s were certainly engaged in the whole science vista. I conclude with the point with which Lord James concluded. There is no doubt an opportunity. One has to commend the Institute for Science Education in Scotland whole-heartedly for being a bottom-up initiative. That said, it has already commanded the support of every university in Scotland and of the Royal Society of Edinburgh. For those reasons, if for no other, it commends itself to the Executive for support.

Too often, this chamber finds itself bidding for more money than England or sums commensurate with those in England, so it is fair to note in passing that, in England, £25 million-which was matched by the Government-was allocated by the Wellcome Trust. To its immense credit, the Institute for Science Education in Scotland has got itself going with simply £350,000, so it is a modest contribution that will be required to make the network operate. A regional hub structure is in place. I encourage the Executive to look favourably on how the bottom-up initiative can be supported to achieve the goal of more of Scotland's young people not just moving into science education at school, but staying with it through undergraduate and post-graduate education, which will be of benefit to us all.

17:30

Brian Adam (Aberdeen North) (SNP): I congratulate Lord James Douglas-Hamilton on lodging the motion.

We are looking to exploit, nurture and encourage the natural curiosity of children and young people about the world around them. We need to put the bang back into science laboratories. We should restore the things that make people wonder, be interested and be enthusiastic. I favour the appropriate health and safety measures that are essential for education, but we have removed much of the curriculum content that young people found interesting and cutting edge. If we do not put the bang back into science, young people will not be enthused.

Wendy Alexander quite rightly referred to a range of things that are happening, but they should not happen in schools only. I am delighted that the universities are involved, as they need to reach out—many of them do—to encourage young people at school who are interested in science to see what actually happens in universities. It is fine for us to reiterate the litany of major scientific successes that have resulted from the work of Scots, at home or abroad, but that is history. We need Scotland's science future to be as bright as its past was—and that will not happen if many of our young people continue to turn their backs on science. We have had significant debates in recent times about population changes in Scotland. It is true that we have fewer young people. If we are to compete to engage the interest of young people so that they become involved in science, which is hard work, we will have to be more creative. Scientists should join teachers in going to schools to encourage, develop and nurture the natural curiosity of young people. I welcome the fact that Lord James Douglas-Hamilton has initiated this debate.

17:32

Robert Brown (Glasgow) (LD): I congratulate Lord James Douglas-Hamilton on initiating a debate on this extremely important subject. I welcome the establishment of the Institute for Science Education in Scotland, but the debate is about the much wider issue of science education. I join those who have called on the Executive to ensure that the institute is properly supported and allowed to develop.

As Lord James Douglas-Hamilton mentioned, Scotland has made a major contribution to the development of science and engineering. It is astonishing, therefore, that we seem to have entered a vicious cycle. The decline in interest in various things feeds on itself. The proportion of school pupils taking higher sciences has dropped steadily in recent years. In 1993-94, chemistry was taken by 10.8 per cent of pupils, but that figure had decreased to 9.2 per cent by 2001-02. Over the same period, the proportion of pupils studying physics decreased from 10.4 per cent to 9 per cent and the proportion taking biology dropped from 7.6 per cent to 6.6 per cent. They are not dramatic figures, but the trend is not happy, especially when considered alongside the decline in population.

The pass rates in science subjects and a comparison with the pass rates in some other subjects are also relevant. The pass rate for higher Spanish is approximately 90 per cent and that for modern studies is approximately 80 or 81 per cent. The pass rate for chemistry is approximately 72 or 73 per cent; for biology it is 64 or 65 per cent; and for physics it is around 71 to 73 per cent. There is a marked difference between the pass rates achieved in science subjects and those in other subjects that are more popular with students.

When I went to school, which unfortunately was not yesterday, science was to some extent perceived as difficult or boring. That is astonishing when one considers that there have been many remarkable inventions in which remarkable interest could be shown. It seems surprising that science should lag behind subjects such as English or history, which I like, but which are generally perceived as less interesting. Why can we not interest people in science and get them to take it at various levels?

The differences in the pass rates at higher level are important, as they encourage people to opt for subjects other than science. We must do something about that. The answer lies in stimulating people's intelligence and interest in science, as Brian Adam discussed. The idea that is proposed is to have four regional hubs as centres of excellence and good practice-perhaps based on science centres or universities-where children can go to experience science in a more creative environment than might exist in schools. That environment could be matched by better laboratory and other science facilities, and the result could be a golden cycle of creating interest, getting more people to become involved, creating better science teachers and creating better facilities. The whole thing would go round and feed into the economy in due course. That is undoubtedly the right way to go.

The motion is highly relevant and valiant and contains a lot of important implications. I very much support it.

17:36

Rhona Brankin (Midlothian) (Lab): Like others, I very much welcome this debate on science education and I congratulate Lord James Douglas-Hamilton on securing it. I had to laugh when I heard Brian Adam say that we need science to go with a bang. My very first science experiment in first year in secondary school involved melting naphthalene in a test tube over a Bunsen burner and watching it change from a solid into a liquid. Mine exploded. That did not put me off science, although it put me off chemistry for a while—I ended up doing higher biology instead.

It will not surprise members to hear that I propose to talk about my constituency and the very important bioscience cluster there. Over the years, Midlothian has lost more than 20,000 jobs in the coal mining industry and it is now reinventing itself as one of the most important bioscience clusters in the United Kingdom. It is also important in a world context, with world-famous research institutes such as the Roslin Institute. For a while, Dolly the sheep—sadly now departed—was my most famous constituent. There are also institutes such as the Moredun Research Institute. We have a world-class bioscience cluster in Midlothian.

The challenge for Midlothian is that although its economy currently has one of the lowest levels of unemployment in Scotland, it also has the second lowest proportion of young people going to university. Midlothian faces a major challenge if it and the people who live there are to benefit from its bioscience cluster. We need to connect people in Midlothian, particularly young people, with the scientists who work there. That is a huge challenge, but I and others in the constituency must take it up to ensure that young people in Midlothian have the range of opportunities to which they should be entitled. I look forward to that challenge and congratulate Lord James again on securing the debate, which allows people like me to make some connections and to participate.

17:38

Robin Harper (Lothians) (Green): When I was in Kenya, I was the principal teacher of a physics and chemistry department. I can assure Brian Adam that my main job was to try to keep the bangs out of science, although I admit to one experiment—which I probably should not have performed—that involved a very explosive substance. Happily, it did not come off.

I wish to cover three points, one to do with primary education, one to do with secondary education and the other to do with universities and colleges. I draw the minister's attention to some of the strengths in primary education that we should be working with. Despite some of the concerns about Scottish science, the third trends in international mathematics and science study— TIMSS—which was carried out six years ago, showed that, although 13-year-olds in Scotland came below the international average,

"13 year old Scottish pupils performed considerably better in practical tasks than in written tasks".

That is very important. People such as Watt, Baird and Kelvin were grounded in the practical side of science, such as engineering; they could make things and went on to be inventors. I am not particularly worried. We test written skills at every level in education, but the important thing is that the scientific investigative skills of pupils aged 13 in Scotland are good by international standards. We should work on and invest in that strength. That of course means that we should invest as much as possible in the idea of having a room in every primary school that is dedicated to science as well as other practical activities such as technical subjects and art, that is not a classroom and is a place where children can perform experiments, get dirty and become excited.

The problem in secondary schools is not just the difficulty of the subjects, which Robert Brown mentioned, but the fact that we do not have a culture of science in our secondary schools as we did when I was at school. I do not know how we get that back. It is important to engage the help of Careers Scotland in a dedicated and focused way to get that culture back in our secondary schools.

Last year and the year before, we had big science events that were arranged through the Parliament with universities. I was particularly concerned that the colleges were not included in them. We should raise the profile of our Scottish colleges as well as our universities; they should be included in resolving the issues around the debate and they should have been included in the events. A lot of what they do relates to science; not just the universities are involved.

I would like to say a lot more, but the Presiding Officer is indicating that I should sit down.

17:42

Dr Sylvia Jackson (Stirling) (Lab): I welcome the debate. Although the central subject is the Institute for Science Education in Scotland, it is also very much about school science education and the problems that we face in relation to science, engineering and technology.

I was a secondary school chemistry teacher 30 years ago and I have been a teacher trainer in the area as well, so I am well aware of the work that has been done over the years to increase the number of children coming into science education and, as a result, going on to university and into industry or research. There has always been concern about the numbers studying science. Robert Brown mentioned the downward trend in the number of pupils taking science highers. The figures relating to students taking full-time science degree courses in the past five years are even worse—for example, the number of students taking chemistry degrees is down 27 per cent. Those figures are horrendous.

There has always been a concern about the number of girls studying science. Various projects, such as the women in science, engineering and technology initiative, have tried to encourage girls into science education.

Changes such as the introduction of standard grades and higher still have brought more relevance into the curriculum with topics such as pollution and socioeconomic issues. There has been an increasing emphasis on problem solving and practical skills, as well as on content.

Brian Adam: Does the member share the enthusiasm of some of our new universities for attracting students to forensic science courses? In such courses, people who might not otherwise have done so will study chemistry and physics. Perhaps we need to bring that approach down to school level. We have to show the practical applications.

Dr Sylvia Jackson: I agree entirely, which is why I said that science, engineering and technology should be grouped together, because

applied science is important. As Brian Adam knows, the University of Strathclyde has led the way in providing the kind of courses that he mentioned.

Initiatives such as SATIS—science and technology in society—have tried to bring relevance to the curriculum. In the primary school sector, there has been an attempt to bring science education into the curriculum through primary teacher training. That has perhaps not been done as much as possible, but there have been recent moves to increase the amount of science in teacher training. Moreover, last year, £10 million was put into schools to change laboratory accommodation.

The thrust of the institute's approach is cooperative. As Brian Adam said, the institute tries to bring the relevance of what happens in universities and industry into the classroom and to take pupils out of the classroom to show them what is happening in industry. The institute is to be supported. I look forward to hearing what the minister has to say, although I may have to leave before the end of the debate.

17:46

Nora Radcliffe (Gordon) (LD): I thank Lord James Douglas-Hamilton for introducing the debate. The institute is fundamental to how we progress.

If young people in education perceive science to be hard and boring, we are in real trouble, but if they see science or the pursuit of knowledge as interesting and exciting, we have cracked the problem. Parents have a role at the outset in not smothering their children's natural curiosity and fascination with the world around them. Teachers pick up and continue that role. In particular, primary school teachers have the important role of nurturing the natural impulse to explore and learn and of setting children on the right path. As primary school teachers are generalists, the support that they will gain from the tremendous new resource will enable them to teach and involve their pupils in science projects with confidence and enthusiasm. That is extremely exciting and will pay huge dividends in future.

Dr Sylvia Jackson: Does the member agree that one of the big issues is that primary school teachers often have little science knowledge, given their training and background?

Nora Radcliffe: That is one of the big issues and it is why I find the fact that primary school teachers can access the pool of expertise so exciting. That access will give people who are enthusiastic about such subjects the confidence to teach them, because they will have expert backup. That is important. I hope that the Executive will put a lot of effort into connecting primary school teachers with the new resource.

My experience of scientists is that they are interested in and enthusiastic about their subject. Completing the circle, by putting people who are at the far end of the education, skills-gathering and learning process in touch with people who are at the beginning, can only be to the benefit and satisfaction of all. It gives us great hope for the future that such things can be made to happen.

17:48

Mr David Davidson (North East Scotland) (Con): I congratulate Lord James Douglas-Hamilton on securing the debate. I am an applied scientist, although I should point out that I had the privilege of burning the ceiling of my school's new science laboratory the first year that I went into it and that I managed to blow the circuit board at university while conducting a badly constructed experiment, which caused some difficulty for days afterwards.

Wendy Alexander mentioned the Jesuits, who do wonderful things with children aged seven. However, as Nora Radcliffe said, a child's curiosity starts at home at their parent's knee. If we can involve parents as catalysts to show science not as a subject but as a series of facts about how the world goes round, what can happen and what the reactions are, that attitude will be taken on into school. It is too much to expect schools to do everything. We should start earlier and engage mums, through the toddlers class, for example. We should not frighten parents with the idea that science is all about boffins with lots of brains, thick glasses and white coats, because science is not like that at all.

I am particularly concerned about making science entertaining for children. Can we make family days out from science? The Satrosphere in Aberdeen is about interaction with everyday life and is science based, but it is struggling for resources to stay open. There are places in Dundee and other parts of Scotland and there is the Glasgow Science Centre, of course.

We must also ask what needs to be done for Scotland's economy and its future. Members have mentioned different aspects of science, such as genetics, physics and technology relating to the petroleum industry. There is a vast range of knowledge on which we depend for the speciality style that drives our economy. We export many scientists and, as Robert Brown said, the numbers are looking pretty grim.

How can we involve people in science? Should people be incentivised to go into science and teach it? Should some degrees be incentivised? A person should have an education or training that is appropriate to their ability, but perhaps we will have to give a bit of a steer in respect of teaching science. We must make it a fun and sexy subject with which people instinctively want to be involved.

Pupils in primary schools are taught general knowledge and current affairs. Why is science not taught as part of such teaching about what goes on in the world? Teachers could use that teaching to enthuse pupils.

Scotland is beginning to have to work hard in a number of areas to import scientists, the critical mass of whom go into education. The economy is a major area, but perhaps it is not the biggest worry, as it relates to output. We must start at home—at the cradle and at the knee—to try to make science a family activity and fun for parents and children.

17:51

Dr Elaine Murray (Dumfries) (Lab): I was about to train to become a physics teacher when I began a political career 10 years ago through being elected to Strathclyde Regional Council. I had a place on the postgraduate certificate in education course at Craigie College. Sometimes I reflect on the relative usefulness and security that each career path offers. I therefore congratulate Lord James Douglas-Hamilton on securing a debate on a topic that is close to my heart. Science is extremely important to Scotland's future and science matters are not debated nearly often enough in the Parliament.

At the Labour Party conference last weekend, the First Minister stated that Scotland needed to develop "a dynamic economy" that would mean

"opportunities for Scots and resources for schools and hospitals."

However, we cannot have such a dynamic and world-class knowledge-driven economy if we do not have a supply of

"young scientists and engineers and a population that better understands and appreciates science."

That is a direct quotation from the Scottish Science Advisory Committee's report, "Why Science Education Matters: Supporting and Improving Science Education in Scottish Schools".

Robert Brown referred to the belief that science is boring and difficult. There is a genuine problem with science's image. It is also thought that it does not have much reward in the long term. Such an image is not helped by stories such as the recent story about the scientist retraining as a gas fitter because he could earn more money and have more job security if he took that career path.

Sylvia Jackson alluded to the fact that science is seen as a masculine subject, which often puts girls

off it. The physical sciences and engineering in particular are seen as masculine subjects. I trained in physical chemistry and have to say that the fact that there were many blokes around made the subject rather more attractive to me. [Laughter.] This is not about a bang in the lab.

We must try to get away from the image of science as involving geeks in laboratories. I was terribly sorry about poor Beagle 2 getting lost. The gentleman who seemed to front up that project was very charming, but he looked a bit strange. Scientists need to look a bit more ordinary and try to engage more with ordinary people rather than put young people off science.

We must face the fact that a third of all science teachers are now over 50—unfortunately, I would not have helped a great deal in that respect if I had gone into physics teaching. There is a great need to attract young teachers into science. Significantly more science teachers and science technicians are needed in the next few years. Many scientists are aging and science is a rapidly advancing subject. There is a greater need for professional development to allow science teachers to keep up with recent developments in schools.

In my final few seconds, I want to advertise an event tomorrow on microbiology awareness. Hugh Pennington will be at the Hub to discuss the importance of microbiology and the biotechnology sector. I hope that members who are interested in science will participate in that event.

17:55

Mike Pringle (Edinburgh South) (LD): I congratulate Lord James Douglas-Hamilton on securing this debate on an important subject. I speak in support of the development of the Institute for Science Education in Scotland. It is important to establish a co-ordinated body for the many excellent science education projects that are going on throughout Scotland. As has been said, science graduates contribute not only to science research but to all aspects of life in Scotland. My researcher has a PhD in geophysics, specialising in earthquakes and volcanoes. He is now using the transferable skills that he learned in science higher education to learn about earthquakes and volcanoes in my constituency office.

The University of Edinburgh's King's buildings science site lies in my constituency. I highlight the excellent work that is done there in science education and the fostering of links between teachers and academics. It is important that the new institute encourages the replication of projects that are already working. I recently visited the chemistry department at the University of Edinburgh during science week, and I saw the work that it is doing with primary schools in

Edinburgh. I had the pleasure of judging a crystalgrowing competition and seeing the enthusiasm of the pupils. All those who, like me, taught science will remember growing those big blue crystals, and the children whom I met were growing something similar. I saw the enthusiasm of the staff and pupils who were involved in that work, and I was shown all sorts of things thereafter. I put on record my congratulations to the university on its promotion of that annual event. However, sadly, not as many primary schools were represented as I would have liked. It is up to us, in our unique position as elected representatives, to help to publicise such events in our constituencies and to help to foster links between schools and university departments.

Another excellent science project is the sci-fun science roadshow, through which staff and postgraduates from the University of Edinburgh take fun science throughout Scotland. They give voluntarily of their time and have travelled the length and breadth of Scotland, engaging primary and secondary school pupils. If more pupils had access to such workshops and roadshows, more children would be enthused about science. As David Davidson said, that is what we have to ensure. In 2002, during an experiment in which a Catherine-wheel was being demonstrated, a hole was drilled straight through the desk that was being used for the experiment, much to the amusement of all the kids. When I visited the roadshow last year, the desk had, unfortunately, been replaced with a metal plate; however, I assure Brian Adam that the bangs that night deafened us all temporarily.

Young kids have got to be made excited about science, as members have said. The key time when problems occur is at secondary school, when kids begin to make subject choices—to which Robert Brown referred—and science does not seem to feature. We must ensure that teachers make sure that pupils are given the opportunity to take science subjects and that those subjects feature.

The Institute for Science Education in Scotland can fulfil a key role in linking up academics and secondary school teachers so that pupils in their mid-teens can be persuaded of the career prospects and attractiveness of science. We also need to remind them about how much fun they found science when they were younger. It is true that science subjects can be hard and that science teachers have a tough job; however, I wholeheartedly welcome the institute and I support the call for the Executive to help in its development as much as possible to bring the fun back to science.

17:58

Mr Keith Raffan (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD): I, too, congratulate Lord James Douglas-Hamilton on securing this important debate and welcome the establishment of the Institute for Science Education in Scotland. As other members have said, it is important that we make science much more attractive as a subject to study at school.

Although I am the son, grandson and greatgrandson of doctors, I am ashamed to say that science came to a grinding halt in my generation. All but one of my cousins chose the arts over science; perhaps it was partly due to an early visit to Sir James Simpson's dining room in George Street in Edinburgh, where I was shown the dining table at which he had successfully put his guests to sleep. That put me off following in my father's footsteps as an anaesthetist.

Scientific education is a necessary prelude to the study of medicine, and it is most easily and thoroughly—although not necessarily—obtained at school rather than crammed later on. Our medical schools—I am proud to say that we have one in St Andrews in my area, albeit only a pre-clinical one—are among the oldest and most distinguished in the United Kingdom, attracting students from all over the world.

Nowadays, almost 60 per cent of our entrants to medical school are female, which is very different from my mother's day in the mid-1930s when few women studied medicine. When women graduate as doctors, many naturally and understandably drop out for a while so that they can bring up their children. In contrast to Elaine Murray and Sylvia Jackson, I am concerned that more boys should be attracted into studying science at school, with the ultimate objective of going into medicine. I am sorry that I have caused such uneasy body language among the lady members who are present, but they are in favour of gender balance, so they must accept it in medicine as well as in politics.

I welcome the fact that our medical schools are so good that they attract students from throughout the world. However, it is important that we do not permanently deprive their own countries particularly those in the developing world—of those students. We want to send them back because they are an important export for us.

I repeat that it is important that we attract more Scots into medicine—particularly more Scottish men.

18:01

The Deputy Minister for Education and Young People (Euan Robson): I am grateful to Lord James Douglas-Hamilton for securing the debate, which has been very interesting. The Executive is always pleased to debate science education. I am also grateful to the members present for their contributions.

I listened to Lord James's remarks about Scotland's scientific and engineering heritage. They called to mind my grandfather, James Macfarlane, who was a noted engineer in Glasgow some years ago. I should have paid more attention to him when he told me tales of his contemporaries; I wish I remembered more of them. In the same way as Keith Raffan, who did not follow his medical heritage, I have not particularly followed my scientific and engineering heritage, although I have a great regard for all that the generation that was mentioned by Lord James did for Scotland.

The Executive welcomes the establishment of the ISES, which we have supported since its inception. The institute has the potential to play an important role in supporting science education in Scotland; that is quite clear.

The motion expresses concern about the future of science education in Scotland and about the negative consequences that a decline in science in schools would have on our future prosperity. However, we must not over-emphasise that. I have heard phrases such as "pretty grim" and "serious decline" in tonight's debate, but we should not be too pessimistic.

After English and maths, science subjects are the most popular subjects that are studied for highers. Pupil presentations for physics, chemistry and biology highers in 2003 were 9,489, 9,292 and 8,920 respectively. As a comparison, the next most popular subject was history, with 8,088 pupil presentations at higher level. Although there has been a decline in numbers, the numbers are still very high.

Robert Brown mentioned high pass rates in Spanish; in 2002, there were 919 presentations for higher Spanish and 1,045 in 2003, which is an increase of approximately 10 per cent. We must, when we use those figures, be careful not to exaggerate the position.

I will talk about the increase in acceptances to higher education courses in biological and physical sciences, of which there were 3,628 in 2001, which went up to 4,507 in 2002. There was also a 10 per cent increase in acceptances to civil engineering courses.

Wendy Alexander rightly talked about the generation science club. We offered £12,000 of support for that club in 2003-04. I agree with Wendy Alexander about the need to review the science curriculum, but our curriculum review presents that opportunity. I will certainly ensure that her comments are fed into the review.

I have much to say, but I should make it clear that members are right that science is an important driver of Scotland's future economic success. That is self-evident. The Executive's science strategy offers a vision for science in Scotland that sets challenges for the Executive and for the science community. Between 2002 and 2006, we will provide £18 million for school science. Most of that new money will go to education authorities in addition to their existing capital allocations. The money will be spent on, for example, modernising laboratories and equipment, upskilling teachers and producing updated teaching materials. On top of that, science labs are being upgraded as part of the £2 billion schools public-private partnership project, which is one of our biggest investments in schools in many a long year.

How can we encourage more young people to study science? Bearing in mind the need to keep the figures in proportion and to understand what is happening, how will we get more young people interested in science? In secondary school, pupils face other attractions. For example, information technology suites are now common in many schools—as is right and proper—so we have a challenge in showing young people why science matters and how it affects them.

Clearly, the key to inspiring young people is in the hands of their teachers. As has already been pointed out-by Elaine Murray, I think-a great professional deal of valuable continuing development is already undertaken by education authorities. As a result of the recent McCrone settlement, more opportunities will be provided for such CPD, which is very important in science teaching. I also take the point that Sylvia Jackson made about initial teacher education, of which a review is currently under way. I will feed in her remarks on that score.

The Scottish Schools Equipment Research Centre has set up four consortia to provide continuing professional development for teachers of science in the five to 14 curriculum, and a fifth consortium is about to be established, which is good news. Given that primary school pupils study science as part of the five to 14 curriculum, we are trying to make that experience better and better through the curriculum review.

The science strategy funding, which has been allocated to education authorities by the Education Department, has been used well to provide resources and staff tutors. Staff development tutors improve science teaching strategies in primary schools and offer important direct handson support for primary teachers. We have also set up biology, chemistry and physics summer schools, which have been shown to be very effective. We are considering how we can support science teaching in other ways. The recent Scottish Science Advisory Committee report, "Why Science Education Matters: Supporting and Improving Science Education in Scottish Schools", notes the lack of professional development support for secondary school lab technicians. We must recognise the essential work of support staff within schools, so I have asked my officials to meet education authority representatives to ensure that we address that issue, which forms part of the overall experience.

In addition, the Executive is working closely with Learning and Teaching Scotland to provide new science classroom teaching materials, which I agree need to be updated, kept modern and be refreshed. We are trying to make the materials challenging and to design them so that they engage children's interests in all types of science. We will also examine best practice in science education elsewhere in the United Kingdom and beyond to see what we can learn. In particular, I am anxious that we learn lessons from across Europe and from the United States.

Of course, only a minority of pupils will become scientists, but all young people need to be scientifically literate. If there was one part of my education that I could repeat, it would be the science subjects, so that I could be more literate in scientific matters. The curriculum review will ensure that all young people are equipped to play their full part as citizens in 21st century society, in which science and technology will have such a significant impact on people's lives. We need only consider the number of products that are available now that were not available 25 years ago to realise the importance of having an understanding of science and technology.

As members have pointed out, science in schools is, ultimately, as much about how teachers engage and enthuse young people as it is about knowing particular theories or laws. We certainly want to put interest-or what is called the wow factor-back into the science lab. Indeed, given members' comments, perhaps that should be renamed the bang factor. In that respect, I am pleased that Rhona Brankin survived the experiment that she described in her speech. Putting that wow factor back into the science lab is one of the reasons why we are funding the Scottish space school, which sends 50 young people each year to Houston in Texas and aims to inspire them to pursue careers in science. It is well worth celebrating such an imaginative and farsighted project, which is organised by Careers Scotland and supported by the Executive. In return, NASA astronauts visit schools in Scotland each June where they speak to almost 15,000 young people about their exciting and challenging work.

In further education, many colleges have experienced increased student enrolments in biological and physical sciences. For example, Falkirk College runs a very successful advanced higher course and practical workshops in biology and chemistry—it is important to emphasise that a number of other colleges are doing the same.

As I am probably well over my time, I will conclude with some comments about the ISES. As I have made clear, I hope that the ISES will be able to play an important role with us and other partners such as the Scottish Schools Equipment Research Centre and Learning and Teaching Scotland in achieving our ambition of improving science education in Scotland. My officials are actively engaging with the institute to clarify the outcomes we expect from its work, although I should say that we are in the middle of those discussions and that more needs to be done. In order to agree funding, we need to be very clear about the institute's mechanisms and its impact on the quality of science education for all our young people. I stress that we value the institute's work and, as I say, we are actively engaging with it and talking to it about how we can provide support and assistance.

I close with those remarks, Presiding Officer, and I thank you for your indulgence in allowing me to go over my time. I also thank members again for their valuable contributions to the debate.

Meeting closed at 18:12.

Members who would like a printed copy of the *Official Report* to be forwarded to them should give notice at the Document Supply Centre.

No proofs of the *Official Report* can be supplied. Members who want to suggest corrections for the archive edition should mark them clearly in the daily edition, and send it to the Official Report, 375 High Street, Edinburgh EH99 1SP. Suggested corrections in any other form cannot be accepted.

The deadline for corrections to this edition is:

Wednesday 10 March 2004

Members who want reprints of their speeches (within one month of the date of publication) may obtain request forms and further details from the Central Distribution Office, the Document Supply Centre or the Official Report.

PRICES AND SUBSCRIPTION RATES

DAILY EDITIONS

Single copies: £5 Meetings of the Parliament annual subscriptions: £350.00

The archive edition of the *Official Report* of meetings of the Parliament, written answers and public meetings of committees will be published on CD-ROM.

WHAT'S HAPPENING IN THE SCOTTISH PARLIAMENT, compiled by the Scottish Parliament Information Centre, contains details of past and forthcoming business and of the work of committees and gives general information on legislation and other parliamentary activity.

Single copies: £3.75 Special issue price: £5 Annual subscriptions: £150.00

WRITTEN ANSWERS TO PARLIAMENTARY QUESTIONS weekly compilation

Single copies: £3.75 Annual subscriptions: £150.00

Standing orders will be accepted at the Document Supply Centre.

Published in Edinburgh by The Stationery Office Limited and available from:

The Stationery Office Bookshop 71 Lothian Road Edinburgh EH3 9AZ 0870 606 5566 Fax 0870 606 5588	The Stationery Office Scottish Parliament Documentation Helpline may be able to assist with additional information on publications of or about the Scottish Parliament, their availability and cost:	The Scottish Parliament Shop George IV Bridge EH99 1SP Telephone orders 0131 348 5412
The Stationery Office Bookshops at: 123 Kingsway, London WC2B 6PQ Tel 020 7242 6393 Fax 020 7242 6394 68-69 Bull Street, Birmingham B4 6AD Tel 0121 236 9696 Fax 0121 236 9699 33 Wine Street, Bristol BS1 2BQ Tel 01179 264306 Fax 01279 294515 9-21 Princess Street, Manchester M60 8AS Tel 0161 834 7201 Fax 0161 833 0634 16 Arthur Street, Belfast BT1 4GD Tel 028 9023 8451 Fax 028 9023 5401 The Stationery Office Oriel Bookshop, 18-19 High Street, Cardiff CF12BZ Tel 029 2039 5548 Fax 029 2038 4347	Telephone orders and inquiries 0870 606 5566 Fax orders 0870 606 5588	RNID Typetalk calls welcome on 18001 0131 348 5412 Textphone 0845 270 0152 sp.info@scottish.parliament.uk www.scottish.parliament.uk Accredited Agents
		(see Yellow Pages) and through good booksellers

ISBN 0 338 000003 ISSN 1467-0178